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To the Shareholders,

| would like to extend my sincere thanks to all of you for
supporting Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited
(the “Company”). On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of the Company, | am pleased to present you
with the audited financial results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2014,

In 2001, Ms. Wu Ching, the founder of the Company,
established Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd. (previously known as Longyan Changfeng Mechanical
Factory Co. Ltd.), which was engaged in manufacturing
and sales of axle housings and other axle components.
Over the effort of the management in the past years, the
Company was successfully listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24
September 2010, thus tapping the international capital
market. This listing not only boosted the Company’s capital
base, but also strengthened our Group’s leading position
in the industry and enhanced the Company’s competitive
advantage, creating more business opportunities and giving
an impetus to the Group’s development.

Year 2014 was another challenging year due to the uncertain
economic environment in China, Russia and around the
world. The medium and heavy truck industry in China was
affected by the slow down of construction and infrastructure
development projects and the tightening of credit policy
imposed by the relevant regulatory authority. Facing the less
favorable truck industry environment in China, for the year
ended 31 December 2014, the Group recorded a revenue
of RMB336.9 million (2013: RMB429.8 million) and the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of RMB149.7 million
(2013: RMB228.1 million).
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Chairman's Statement
TEHRE

During the year under review, the Group proactively faced
the challenge in its business. It expanded its product
offerings and strengthened its development and production
capability through enhancement of production bases. The
Group continued to implement quality control procedures.

Looking forward, the Group expects the business in truck
and train market to continue to be challenging in the year
2015 in view of the uncertainty in the China, Russia and
the global economic situation. The Group aims to develop
its local and overseas market in both train and truck
components. At the same time, the Group will continue
to strengthen its axle assemblies and related component
parts industry through the development in the domestic
and overseas medium and heavy duty truck markets. The
Group will diversify and enhance its product range in order to
capture new opportunities in the domestic and international
railway industries. We believe that the Group will achieve
better results and hence optimize return for shareholders.

This year marked an important milestone in the Group’s
development. With the completion of the issuance
and allotment of 610,606,060 subscription shares and
122,121,212 consideration shares to the shareholders
of Century East Network Limited (“Century East”) at the
end of March 2015, the Group will actively participate into
the electronic commerce business to broaden its income
sources. Our new Board of Directors will include Mr. Cheng
Jerome, Mr. Yuan Weitao, Mr. Feng Xiaohui, Mrs. Guo
Yan, and the three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Liu Erhfei, and Mr. Chan
Chi Keung, Alan, all of whom have extensive experience in
the electronic commerce industry as well as the accounting
and financial sector; while Ms. Wu Ching and Ms. Dong
Ying, Dorothy will remain as our executive director and non-
executive director respectively. We have full confidence that,
under the leadership of an experienced and energetic core
management team, this business diversification approach
will bring a new momentum to the Group and start a new
chapter in the future development of the Group.
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Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and partners for their
continuous support and encouragement. We are committed
1o using the highest quality and technical standards and fully
utilizing every opportunity to give returns to shareholders and
all teams for their long-term support.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

24 March 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERTR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an independent axle component provider for
China’s medium duty truck (“MDT”) and heavy duty truck
(“HDT”) aftermarket, and also an independent axle assembly
providers for China’s MDT and HDT original equipment
manufacturers (“OEM”) market. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sales of axle assemblies
and axle components in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”).

The Group’s products cover all major axle components,
including cast steel and punched steel axle housings, brake
drums, axle shafts, axle differentials and reductors, steering
knuckles and front axle beams. An extensive range of front,
middle and rear axle assemblies and suspension assemblies
are also manufactured.

In year 2014, through the effort of the casting experts and
breakthrough in the casting process of the Group, the
Group has commenced the delivery of the train bolster
and train side frame to the Commonwealth of Independent
States (“CIS”) and establish the platform for the Group’s
entrance into the international railway industry. However,
to a large extent, this business was suspended in 2014 due
to continued unstable political and market environment in
Russia and other member states of the CIS, as well as the
need to apply for certification under new standards imposed
by Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan (member states of
CIS) for the Group’s railway components as the Group had
previously relied on certification issued by Ukraine testing
authorities which had become invalid for the Russian market
following diplomatic fallout between Russia and Ukraine.
Formal submission of the Group’s railway components
to the official testing facilities was made in October 2014.
New certification will only be issued if all the Group’s railway
components pass the new standard as laid out by the
authorities at the end of the testing process. The testing
process is currently on schedule and is expected to finish
by end March 2015. However, the testing authorities have
the right to extend the testing time of such components if
necessary.

The Group has two production facilities in the PRC, one of
which is located in Kaifeng city, Henan province, and another
one is located in Longyan city, Fujian province. Those
production facilities are strategically located in proximity to
primary suppliers and customers so as to accelerate the
Group’s procurement process, reduce product delivery time
and transportation costs and improve logistical efficiency to
meet customers’ demands.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MDT and HDT aftermarket

The Group is an independent axle component provider for
China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket with diversified product
offerings among independent axle component providers in
China. During the year ended 31 December 2014, the axle
components were sold to customers in the aftermarket
through its extensive sales, marketing and services network
across the PRC. For the year ended 31 December 2014,
revenue generated from the aftermarket amounted to
approximately RMB165.9 million (2013: approximately
RMB222.9 million) and accounted for approximately 49.2%
(2013: approximately 51.9%) of the Group’s total revenue,
representing a decrease of approximately 25.6% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2013.

MDT and HDT OEM market

The Group primarily sells axle assemblies directly to
OEMs in the PRC on a made-to-order basis to match its
customers’ specification requirements. A small portion
of axle components is occasionally sold to other axle
assembly providers. For the year ended 31 December 2014,
revenue from the OEM market amounted to approximately
RMB168.7 million (2013: approximately RMB172.8 million)
and accounted for 50.1% (2013: 40.2%) of the Group’s total
revenue, representing a decrease of 2.3% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2013.

Train and railway market

The Group commenced the export of the train side frame
and train bolster in 2013. For the year ended 31 December
2014, revenue from the train and railway market amounted
to approximately RMB2.4 million (2013: RMB34.2 million)
and accounted for 0.7% (2013: 7.9%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group recorded
a consolidated revenue of approximately RMB336.9 million
(2013: approximately RMB429.8 million), representing a
decrease of 21.6% as compared with the same period
in 2013. Since the second half of year 2013, there was
increasing pressure on the aftermarket and OEM market,
the business environment of the truck market remained
challenging in the year of 2014.

Revenue from the Group’s aftermarket segment decreased
by approximately 25.6% from RMB222.9 million in 2013
to RMB165.9 million in 2014. The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to (i) less favorable industry environment
caused by the slow down of construction and infrastructure
development projects in China, which hampered the
demand in the aftermarket industry; and (i) decrease in unit
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERTR DT

selling price of certain products under keen competition
in the aftermarket industry. The keen competition in the
aftermarket industry was mainly due to the slow down of
demand in axle components industry and tightening of the
credit policy in China, as a result some of the competitors
sold their products at a low cost in order to maintain
cashflow liquidity.

Revenue from the Group’s OEM and related market
segment slightly decreased by approximately 2.3% from
RMB172.8 million in 2013 to RMB168.7 million in 2014. This
was mainly due to the decline in growth rate in the trucking
industry.

Revenue from the train and railway market of RMB2.4 million
was recognised after the commencement of delivery of the
train and railway components in year 2014.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s gross
profit decreased by 46.9% from approximately RMB72.9
million in 2013 to approximately RMB38.7 million in 2014.
Gross profit margin decreased from approximately 17.0%
in 2013 to approximately 11.5% in 2014 mainly due to
the decrease in average unit selling price under the keen
competition in the aftermarket industry, which increased
the Group’s pressure on the gross profit margin of the
Company.

Other expense and other gains and losses

Other expense of the Group decreased from other gains of
approximately RMB2.6 million in 2013 to other expense of
approximately RMB3.1 million in 2014, the decrease was
mainly attributable to a loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased
from approximately RMB25.7 million in 2013 to
approximately RMB20.5 million in 2014. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in the delivery cost for the axle
business.

Research and development expenditure

Research and development expenditure of the Group
decreased from approximately RMB24.0 million in 2013 to
approximately RMB17.7 million in 2014. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in research and development
in the Group’s train and railway business compared to the
same period in 2013.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased from
approximately RMB68.2 million in 2013 to approximately
RMBG62.8 million in 2014. The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the efficient cost control policy
implemented by the Group.

Finance costs
The Group incurred finance costs of approximately

RMB29.3 million in 2014, which represented approximately
8.7% (2013: approximately 7.6%) of its revenue and an
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Net cash from operating activities KEEBFTS RS F5E 38,376 62,916
Net cash from investing activities KEEREMBIREF5 67,204 59
Net cash used in financing activities BEREFAR S FE (156,624) (66,945)
Cash and cash equivalent at 31 December RTZA=+t—HrR& X
ReEEER 6,858 57,902

Cash and cash equivalent of the Group were mainly
generated from the cash flow deriving from investing
activities and financing activities.

As at 31 December 2014, cash and cash equivalent of
the Group was approximately RMB6.9 million (2013:
approximately RMB57.9 million).

As compared with the year of 2013, cash and cash
equivalent decreased by approximately RMB51.0 million,
which was mainly resulted from the net cash used in
financing activities of approximately RMB156.6 million
(2013: approximately RMB66.9 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERTR DT

As at 31 December 2014, net current assets of the Group
was approximately RMB186.2 million (2013: approximately
RMB83.3 million). As at 31 December 2014, the current ratio
(i.e. total current assets/total current liabilities) of the Group
was approximately 131.8% (2013: approximately 111.7%).

As at 31 December 2014, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB1,277.1 million (2013: approximately
RMB1,581.6 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB584.7 million (2013: approximately RMB709.4 million).
As at 31 December 2014, the debt ratio (i.e. total liabilities/
total assets) was 45.8% (2013: 44.9%)).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately RMB336.9 million (2013: approximately
RMB464.2 million) and the gearing ratio (i.e. total borrowing/
total capital and reserve) was approximately 48.7% (2013:
approximately 53.2%).

The Group will continue to strengthen its liquidity and
financial resources through the improvement of the working
capital, especially timely collection of trade receivables.

Trade and bills receivable

Trade and bills receivables of the Group in 2014 were
approximately RMB213.5 million (2013: RMB264.5
million). The decrease in balance was due to the decrease
in revenue, strengthen of the collection process through
closely monitor of those debtors and impairment loss on
trade receivables.

Inventory

The inventory balance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 amounted to approximately RMB220.9
million (2013: approximately RMB240.3 million) which mainly
reflected the decrease in raw materials and finished goods
required for the decrease in market demand.

Trade and bills payable

Trade and bills payables of the Group in 2014 were
approximately RMB87.9 million (2013: approximately
RMB124.0 million). Again, the decrease in balance reflected
the decrease in raw materials required for the decrease in
market demand.

Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2014, the Group has pledged assets
of approximately RMB356.4 million (2013: approximately
RMB210.6 million) to secure the grant of banking facilities.
As at 31 December 2014, the Group did not pledge the
equity shares of any of its PRC subsidiaries as collateral to
secure bank borrowings (2013: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (2013: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2014, the contracted capital
commitment of the Group which were not provided in the
financial statements amounted to RMBO0.1 million (2013:
approximately RMB2.0 million). Such capital commitments
were mainly for the capital expenditure in respect of
upgrading and acquisition of certain production equipment
at our production facilities.

In 2011, Changfeng Gear Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(“Changfeng Gear”) was incorporated pursuant to the
cooperation agreement entered into between the Group
and an independent third party on 11 November 2010,
pursuant to which the Group and an independent third
party, being the non-controlling shareholder of Changefeng
Gear, owns as to 60% and 40% of the equity interest of
Changfeng Gear, respectively. The Group made a cash
contribution of RMB60,000,000 to Changfeng Gear
whilst the non-controlling shareholder contributed new
machineries with an aggregate value of RMB40,000,000
to Changefeng Gear. The Group and the non-controlling
shareholder were committeed to inject an additional amount
of RMB60,000,000 and RMB40,000,000, respectively in
the year 2012. However, due to change in development
plan, the Group and the non-controlling shareholder
entered into supplemental agreements to amend the capital
injection schedule to 31 December 2014 and amend the
capital contribution method, respectively. For further details
regarding the supplemental agreements, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 December 2012,
27 May 2013 and 29 December 2013. As at 31 December
2014, there was no capital commitment (31 December
2013: RMB48 million) being made by the Group for such
capital injection.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had 950 employees
(2013: 1,271 employees). For the year ended 31 December
2014, total staff costs were approximately RMB56.9 million
(2013: approximately RMB72.6 million).

During the year under review, the Group also provided
internal training, external training and correspondence
courses for its staff in order to promote self improvement
and enhancement of skills relevant to work. The
remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference
to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market conditions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERTR DT

Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in the PRC
and most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi.
Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed
in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s foreign
currencies amounted to approximately RMB1.6 million
(2013: 2.1 million). During the year ended 31 December
2014, the Group did not utilize any future contracts, currency
borrowings and otherwise to hedge against its foreign
exchange risk. However, the Group will continue to monitor
the risk exposures and will consider to hedge against
material currency risk if required.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

PROSPECTS

Having faced with the continuous uncertainty in the global
economic situation and fierce competition in the China
truck market, the Company expects business to continue
to be challenging in year 2015. To ensure the sustaintable
success, the Group’s management has formulated various
strategies and measures to cope with these challenges. The
strategies and measures include diversifying the range of the
Group’s casting and punching products in other industry,
exploring the opportunities in overseas market and starting
the electronic commerce business by acquiring a target
group of companies.

Looking forward, in light of the Group’s (i) recognition in
the overseas train and railway industry; (i) extensive sales,
marketing and services network among all axle component
providers in the aftermarket; (i) diversified axle component
offerings well recognized for high quality by customers; and
(iv) role as an independent provider of axle products in both
the aftermarket and OEM market, enhancing the cross-
marketing capabilities and maximising the sales and profit,
the Group strive to strengthen its position in the railway
and truck industry, to further expand its product offerings in
China, CIS and overseas market.

The Group will further enhance the following aspects in
order to increase its competitiveness within the market in the
upcoming years.

Expansion to overseas markets

In order to expand gradually into other overseas markets in
anticipation of overseas demand for the Group’s products
(both railways and truck components), the Company will
leverage its broad range of quality product offerings, product
development capabilities and cost competitiveness, the
Group are well positioned to expand sales of its products
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Management Discussion and Analysis

into other overseas markets. The Group has implemented
its overseas expansion plan gradually through a variety of
efforts, including:

° exploring the new markets for its train and railway
products;

° diversifying and developing the new casting
and punching products to satisfy the customer
requirements in various industries and countries;

° modifying its existing products to satisfy the
specification requirements of different types and
models of vehicles used overseas; and

o increasing the sales of its customized axle assemblies
in the overseas OEM market, upon identifying potential
OEM customers who may have a need for customized
axle assemblies.

Cost control

The Group will make use of its production facilities located in
the PRC which form a strategic production and distribution
network for its products, so as to efficiently control the
production cost and logistic cost. Besides, the Group will
further consolidate the production lines and functional
departments and dispose those unutilised facilities to lower
its administrative and production cost. Furthermore, the
Group will strategically cooperate with suppliers in order to
lengthen the credit terms and reduce the purchase price.

Marketing network

In order to enhance its market penetration of the train and
railway industry, MDT industry and HDT aftermarket, the
Group will (i) expand its overseas and local market by selling
components with higher margin with a view to increase
subsequent demand for their corresponding products; (i)
expand its extensive sales, marketing and services network
vertically and horizontally; and (i) provide comprehensive
models and products offerings, with its strong brand
recognition.

Electronic commerce business

In view of the recent unsatisfactory financial results, the
Group is of the view that it is appropriate to seek other
suitable business opportunities and income streams
to diversify the existing business of the Group to strive
for growth potential and maximize the returns to the
Shareholders. The acquisition of Century Network Holding
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Century East Group”) in year
2015 represented a valuable opportunity for the Group
to bring in solid strategic corporate investors which have
extensive experience, strong expertise and a wide business
network in the telecommunication, information technology
and e-commerce industry and to develop the online peer-to-
peer business in the PRC.
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Century East Group started its electronic commerce
business in May 2013 through the establishment of a cross-
border business-to-business electronic distribution platform,
CCIGMALL.com., where Century East Group sources,
imports and channels authentic goods from suppliers
abroad, and then distributes and resells such goods to
domestic retailers in the PRC. Since May 2013, Century
East Group has conducted thorough market operation
researches, liaised with overseas suppliers, secured co-
operation and distribution channels, and developed
the platform for the operation of CCIGMALL.com.
The business model is to set up a direct path between pre-
identified overseas suppliers, distributors and domestic
retailers in the PRC. The CCIGMALL.com platform adopts
the order driven model in that retailers place their orders at
designated terminals through the CCIGMALL.com platform
and the orders will then be pulled together by Century
East Group and sent to distributors and suppliers online
directly. The distributors, upon accepting the orders and
completing customs clearance, will then deliver the goods
to the retailers in the PRC. The key value and competitive
strength of such business model is that it incurs less
intermediaries cost, unlike the traditional trading business
model. Besides, CCIGMALL.com platform targets to
maintain a vast database and analysing system, which could
collect and analyse data of users’ consumption behaviour
and generate data of stock and supplies of distributors
to continually guide and optimize suppliers’ product
procurement and downstream retailers’ network expansion.
The platform would also provide data support for the pricing
of wholesaling and retailing products.

Century East Group is managed by a team with extensive
experience in telecommunications, information technology
and e-commerce industry, including but not limited to,
the areas of software and website development and
engineering, sales and marketing, brand and operation
management gathered through their previous positions at
various prestigious corporations.
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Directors and Senior Management

The biographical details of Directors and senior
management of the Company during the year under review,
and as at the date of this report, are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, aged 51, was appointed as the Director
on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the chairman
and the executive Director on 28 June 2010. Mr. Wong
is responsible for the overall management, business and
strategic development, and major decision-making of our
Group. Mr. Wong has over 18 years of management and
operations experience in the automotive parts and axle
industry. Mr. Wong graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (=R BU%E K &) with a bachelor’s
degree in law in 1987 and worked for Longyan City
Public Security Bureau (BET A% F) and Longyan City
Administration of Industry and Commerce (B85 ™ LT
B2 B) respectively until 1991. He then relocated to Hong
Kong in 1992. Mr. Wong served as the factory manager
of Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing Factory
(“Yongding Changfeng”) from 1993 to 2004 during which
he gained experience in management and administration.
Mr. Wong joined our Group in 2001 when his spouse, Ms.
Wu Ching, founded Fuijian Changfeng. From 2008 onwards,
he has been the director and the general manager of Fujian
Changfeng. Mr. Wong has developed several patents
relating to axle components. Mr. Wong has resigned as the
chairman and the executive Director on 25 March 2015.

Ms. Wu Ching, aged 50, was appointed as the Director
on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the executive
Director on 28 June 2010. Together with Mr. Wong, Ms.
Wu is responsible for overall management, business and
strategic development, and major decision-making of our
Group. Ms. Wu has over 18 years of management and
operations experience in the automotive parts and axle
industry. Ms. Wu graduated from Fujian Normal University
(/B 2ERM & KZ2) with a bachelor’s degree in arts in 1985
and worked for Education Bureau of Longyan (BE&H#
A /3) from 1986 to 1989. Ms. Wu then relocated to Hong
Kong in 1989. Ms. Wu worked for Yongding Changfeng
from 1993 to 2001 during which she gained experience in
management. Ms. Wu founded Fujian Changfeng in March
2001. Since 2001, she has been the chairperson of Fujian
Changfeng. Ms. Wu is currently the deputy chairperson
of Longyan City Machinery Industry Association (€&
HMIT% % &) and Longyan City Association of Women
Entrepreneurs (BEa MAZBEKWBE) and a member of
Yongding County CPPCC (5K JE & 1%). Ms. Wu received
the National Machinery Industry Outstanding Entrepreneur
(2B TEESDER) award in 2009 jointly by the
China Machinery Industry Federation (7 BI#4% T 384
&) and the China Machinery Enterprise Management
Association (FHEIH# TP EEEHE).
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Lai Fengcai, aged 38, was appointed as the chief
executive officer and executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Lai is responsible for overall management,
business and strategic development, major decision-
making, operations, sales and marketing, internal control of
our Group. Mr. Lai has worked in our Group for nine years
and he joined our Group as the head of the production
department of Fujian Changfeng in 2001. He was promoted
as the deputy general manager of Fujian Changfeng in 2003
and was respectively in charge of production, procurement,
sales and marketing. From 2006 onwards, he has been the
vice president of Fujian Changfeng in charge of the day-to-
day operations of Fujian Changfeng. He has over 11 years of
experience in operation and management in the automotive
parts and axle industry. Mr. Lai has resigned as executive
Director on 25 March 2015.

Mr. Cheng Jerome, aged 62, was appointed as the
chairman and the executive Director on 25 March 2015. He
joined Beijing Century Fortunet Technology Co., Ltd (4t5
40 ZERIE AR A F]) (“OPCo”) a 51% owned subsidiary
of the Company since 25 March 2015, in December 2014
and currently serves as the chief information officer of
OPCo. Mr. Cheng graduated from University Paris 7 with a
DEA (D’Etudes approfondies) French degree in information
technology in 1986. He has working experience of over
24 years in the IT industry, serving the AXA Group and
Oracle Corporation, both of which are among the Top 500
worldwide fortune companies. From 1986 to 1994, Mr.
Cheng served the AXA Group successively as network
engineer and architect, head of network architecture team
and head of information technology system performance.
From 1998 to 2008, Mr. Cheng worked for BEA Systems,
Inc., a company specialized in enterprise infrastructure
software products which was acquired by Oracle
Corporation in 2008, as principal consulting engineer in BEA
France, as managing consulting engineer in BEA France, as
pre-sales consulting manager in BEA APAC region and as
senior manager of BEA Technology Centre in Beijing, China.
In June 2008, Mr. Cheng joined Oracle Systems Hong
Kong Limited as the senior manager of soft development
and served as Principal Solution Architect of Oracle Fusion
Middleware world wide architecture team from May 2010 to
December 2014.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yuan Weitao, aged 48, was appointed as the
executive Director on 25 March 2015. He joined OPCo in
September 2014 and currently serves as a director and
executive vice president of OPCo, and a director of each of
Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“CIH”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and Century East, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of CIH. Mr. Yuan graduated from
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering
in 1989 and a master’s degree in engineering in 1992. He
has working experience of over 20 years in international
trade, telecommunications and media industries. Mr. Yuan
joined China National Electronics Import & Export Company
(FEETHELE O E]), administered by the Ministry of
Mechanical Electronic Devices of the People’s Republic
of China, after his graduation and worked in its overseas
subsidiary as a marketing manager in 1994. Mr. Yuan
joined CIH as vice president in 1999 and was responsible
for project development and external cooperation of CIH.
Mr. Yuan has been the general manager of Beijing United
Online Technology Co. Ltd (It REt& TR AR AF]),
a subsidiary of China Mobile Communications Corporation
(FEZHEEZEBE QR (“China Mobile”), in 2000; a
vice-president and the representative of the China office
of CMBSat which was a subsidiary of Echostar, one of
the US leading satellite television operators, in 2006; and
a vice general manager of CSMM, a subsidiary of China
Telecommunications Corporation (4 Bl & {2 % & A 7)), from
2010 to August 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy, aged 44, was appointed as the
Director on 6 August 2008 and was re-designated as the
non-executive Director on 28 June 2010. Ms. Dong has
over 18 years of experience in investments and corporate
finance. Ms. Dong is a managing partner of C.V. Starr
Investment Advisors (Asia) Limited and, prior to an internal
restructuring, Starr International Company (Asia), Limited
(together, “Starr Asia”). Prior to joining Starr Asia in 2007,
she served as a vice president at AIG Global Investment
Corp. (Shanghai) Ltd., a division of American International
Group, Inc, focusing on private equity in the PRC, and as
a director at Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited
and a director of its Shanghai advisory company. Ms.
Dong received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai
University (Fudan Sub-school) in the PRC in July 1992, and
a Master of Business Administration degree from McGill
University, Canada in June 1997. She was admitted as a
Chartered Financial Analyst in September 1999 and is a
member of the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts
and the CFA Institute. Ms. Dong is a representative from
Starr Investments Cayman Il, Inc. (“Starr Investments”) on
our Board. Following our Listing, Ms. Dong will be subject
to the normal retirement, re-election and removal processes
applicable to all other Directors as stipulated in the Articles.
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Mr. Feng Xiaohui, aged 37, was appointed as the non-
executive Director on 25 March 2015 and currently serves
as the senior vice president of OPCo and Beijing Century
Fortunet Network Technology Co., Ltd. (bt R ttH42 5+
RPBEEMIABR AT, a 51% owned subsidiary of the
Company. He has working experience of over 13 years in
the communications and the IT industry. Mr. Feng graduated
from Xi’an Institute of Statistics with a bachelor’'s degree
in economics in 1999. From August 1999 to April 2014,
Mr. Feng worked for Putian Eastcom Communication Co.,
Ltd (EREFBERMNERAF]), Huawei Technologies
Co., Ltd (FEARMABR/AT]) as a department head, and
Peopleyun Co., Ltd (EBZEAEFEBRHEBRZAFR]) as vice
president.

Mrs. Guo Yan, aged 42, was appointed as the non-executive
Director on 25 March 2015. She has working experience of
over 17 years in the IT industry. She has experience in the
management of IT sales and operation of over 15 years. She
has led numerous information/communications technology
projects and has extensive experience particularly in the
new mobile internet business model. Mrs. Guo graduated
in testing technology and instruments (4 8I#fiT £ 28 )
from Xi’dian University in 1994 and obtained a postgraduate
diploma in astronomical instruments and methods (XX
#2584 757%) from the Chinese Academy of Science in
1997. From 1997 to 2014, Mrs. Guo worked for Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd (ZEAFMARAF]) as a senior
client manager of eastern China region, a director of
mobile system division of China region, a director of the
IT purchasing division of the China region. Mrs. Guo also
participated in the market development of China Mobile in
Shanghai as a team leader and acted as a project manager
in the project of the IT centralized purchasing bid of China
United Network Communications Corporations Limited (-
BBt & {5 AR A 7)) (“China Unicom”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Weizhou, aged 49, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Zhu graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (¥R BUEAE) with a bachelor’s
degree in law in 1987. Mr. Zhu has been the chairman of
Xifu Investment Co., Ltd. (FAE % & BBR 2 7)) from October
2007 onwards. Mr. Zhu was a director of Gemdale Co., Ltd.
(& HEE XD B R A A]), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383), from November
2006 to April 2008. Mr. Zhu also served as an assistant
to the chairman of Guangsha Holdings Venture Capital
Co., Ltd. (BEZRAIZIREBRAF]), the controlling
shareholder of Zhejiang Guangsha Co., Ltd. (INTEE
%D BFR A E]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600052), from August 2002 to
December 2008. Mr. Zhu resigned as the independent non-
executive Director on 25 March 2015.
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Dr. Li Xiuging, aged 49, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on 24 September 2010. Dr. Li
received a doctor’s degree in legal history, a master’s
degree in law and a bachelor’s degree in law from East
China University of Political Science and Law (FERBUAK
&) in June 2004, June 1990 and July 1987, respectively.
She is a professor of law and doctoral tutor at East China
University of Political Science and Law (ZE B BUEAER). Dr.
Li is the chief editor of ECUPL Journal (R BUAKZE5R).
She was a visiting scholar at Oxford University from January
2003 to July 2003 and received the Shanghai Outstanding
Young Jurist (E/8TEFH EFEZZ) award in 2006. Dr.
Li has published more than 30 articles in major law journals in
the PRC. Dr. Li resigned as the independent non-executive
Director on 25 March 2015.

Mr. Chong Ching Hei, aged 42, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Chong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a master’s degree in professional
accounting. Mr. Chong has over 17 years of experience
in auditing and corporate financial services. Mr. Chong
was admitted as an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October
1999. He is currently the financial controller of Tianjin
Development Holdings Limited (“Tianjin Development”)
(Stock Code: 882), a company whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Prior to that, Mr. Chong was
the financial controller and company secretary of Jianhua
Concrete Pile Holdings Limited until June 2013. He also
served as the financial controller and company secretary of
China Water Property Group Limited (Stock Code: 2349), a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
until March 2011. From April 2004 to March 2006, he
was also the financial controller and company secretary
of Coastal Rapid Transit Company Limited (J&;&32 @3
RAMR AR, the subsidiary of Tianjin Development. Mr.
Chong previously worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in
Hong Kong for over seven years. Mr. Chong resigned as
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015.
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung, aged 60, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015.
Mr. Wong obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in Australia.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and CPA Australia and an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a responsible officer for
asset management, advising on securities and advising
on corporate finance for Greater China Capital Limited
under the SFO. Mr. Wong has over 35 years of experience
in finance, accounting and management. Mr. Wong
was an executive director, the deputy general manager,
group financial controller and company secretary of
Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known
as Yuexiu Property Company Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
123) for over ten years. He is also an independent non-
executive director and a member of the audit committee
of Asia Orient Holdings Limited (stock code: 214), Asia
Standard International Group Limited (stock code: 129),
Century City International Holdings Limited (stock code:
355), China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 2889), China Ting Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3398), ENM Holdings Limited (stock code:
128), Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited (stock code:
3308), Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 617), Regal
Hotels International Holdings Limited (stock code: 78),
TPV Technology Limited (stock code: 903), Yuan Heng
Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 332) and Zhuguang
Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code: 1176), all
of which are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wong was also an independent non-executive director
of First Natural Foods Holdings Limited (now known as
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1076) from 26 November 2007 to 21 November 2013 and
PacMos Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1010)
from 9 August 1995 to 30 June 2014.
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Mr. Liu Erhfei, aged 56, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. Mr. Liu Erhfei
is a co-founder of Cindat Capital Management Limited
(“Cindat”), a global real estate investment platform with
China Cinda Asset Management Company Limited as
an anchor shareholder. Prior to founding Cindat in 2013,
he was an investment banker/investor since 1984. From
1999 to 2012, he was the chairman of Merrill Lynch China
initially and country executive of Bank of America Merrill
Lynch after 2009. From 1999 to 2002, he was also head
of technology in Asia. From 2002 to 2008, he was also
co-chairman of investment banking in Asia. In addition to
his various investment banking responsibilities, he was in
charge of the firm’s private equity business in China from
2006 to 2010. He was elected the Banker of the Year in
Asia in 2006 by “Banker” magazine. From 1997 to 1999,
he was head of Asia for Credit Agricole Indosuez. From
1994 to 1997, he was head of Asia for Smith Barney
Inc.. From 1992 to 1994, he worked at Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. initially as an associate and later as head of
investment banking for China. From 1990 to 1992, he
worked at Morgan Stanley Group Inc. as head of coverage
for Thailand. In 1984, he started his investment banking
career at Rothschild Inc. in New York. Mr. Liu graduated
from Harvard Business School in 1987 with a master’s
degree in business administration, from Brandeis University
in 1984 with a bachelor of arts degree in economics and
international relations and from Beijing Foreign Languages
University in 1981. Mr. Liu is currently on the boards
of Huabao Finance Investment Company Limited, the
financial service platform of BaoSteel Group Corporation;
Wing Lung Bank Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
the China Merchants Bank Group; and Aspire Holdings
Company Limited, a majority owned subsidiary of China
Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited.
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Mr. Chan Chi Keung Alan, aged 51, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. Mr.
Chan is a qualified solicitor admitted in England and Wales in
October 1991 and in Hong Kong in February 1992. Mr. Chan
practiced corporate and commercial law for more than two
decades. He is an independent non-executive director and
a member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of Focus Media
Network Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8112). He is
also an independent non-executive director, chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of each of
the audit committee and nomination committee of L&A
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8195). Previously, Mr. Chan held a number of regional
general counsel roles with international corporations,
including legal vice president for NagaCorp Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3918), head of legal services of The Hong
Kong Jockey Club and the Greater China Legal Counsel
for Sun Microsystems. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of
science degree in civil engineering from the Aston University
of Birmingham, England and a bachelor of laws degree in
China Law from the China University of Political Science and
Law in Beijing, China. Mr. Chan is a registered civil celebrant
in Hong Kong; a council member of the China Overseas
Friendship Association, Beijing, China (/& JMN iE & 18
%); a committee member by Special Appointment of the
Eighth Zhuhai Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (FBIARBUGHESZINEM S
JUEZ B &HHEZ 8) and a director of the Hong Kong Chiu
Chow Chamber of Commerce Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Jinwen, aged 41, is the vice president. Mr. Yang is
responsible for daily operations, production, distribution and
product development for our Group. Mr. Yang has worked in
our Group for 12 years. He has over ten years of experience
in operation and management in the automotive parts and
axle industry. Mr. Yang graduated from China Agricultural
University (FFEIE % KX2) with a bachelor’s degree in
heat engines (EA 123 B)H#) in 1996. He was qualified as an
intermediate mechanical engineer in December 2003 by the
Personnel Bureau of the city of Longyan (E&MAER).
He was responsible for technology management at Longyan
Pump and Nozzle Plant of Longma Group of Fujian (8%
BESEERESHEREM) from August 1996 to February
2002.
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Mr. Chan Yuk Man, Calvin, aged 44, is the financial
controller, company secretary and one of our authorized
representatives. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor of arts honours
degree in history from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong, a master’s degree in finance from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and a master’s degree in corporate
governance from the Open University of Hong Kong. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and a member of the Institute of
Internal Auditors. Mr. Chan has served various accounting
and financial management roles in Hong Kong and China
for more than 19 years. He has extensive knowledge and
experience in accounting, auditing, taxation, financial
management and control, and company secretarial practice
relating to Hong Kong and China business.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2014.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 May 2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
with (“Companies Law”) with limited liability.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group underwent
a reorganization. As a result, the Company became the
holding company of each of the companies currently
comprising the Group. Detalils of the reorganization are set
out in the prospectus of the Company dated 13 September
2010. The shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 24 September 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements. There were no

significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2014 are set out in the financial statements on page 58.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out on
page 59.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2014 are set out on page 60.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, there were no distributable
reserves held by the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL
Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended

31 December 2014 are set out in note 26 to the financial
statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of
Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 28 June 2010, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of enabling the Group to grant options
to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group (the “Share Option Scheme”).
During the year ended 31 December 2014, no share option
had been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the
Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 24
September 2010 and the options issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme will expire no later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may grant options to any employees,
directors, advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole opinion
of the Board will contribute or have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe shares of the
Company.

For any options granted to Directors, chief executives
or substantial shareholders of the Company, options to
be granted shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the proposed grantee of options).

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the total shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the shareholders.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1.00, which will be payable on or before a prescribed
acceptance date. In relation to any options granted under
the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum
period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. However, at the time of granting of the options,
the Board may specify any such minimum period(s).
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Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the
shareholders in a general meeting in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date on
which it became unconditional which was 24 September
2010, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted
prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was
adopted on 10 February 2012 to recognize and motivate
the contributions made to the Group by its employees
and to give incentives in order to retain them for the
continuous operation and development of the Group. As
at 31 December 2014, no share had been awarded under
the Share Award Scheme. Details of the rules of the Share
Award Scheme are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 10 February 2012 and 9 October 2013.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 5 years commencing on the date of adoption on
10 February 2012. Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme,
shares will be acquired by the independent trustee at the
cost of the Company and be held in trust for selected
employees until the end of each vesting period. Vested
shares will be transferred to the selected employees at nil
consideration. At no point in time shall the Trustee be holding
more than 10% of the issued capital of the Company under
the Share Award Scheme. Despite that the Board may
provide directions to grant the voting right to the Trustee,
the Board exerts no influence over the voting decision of
the Trustee and the Trustee is entitled to vote in its sole
absolute discretion, if such voting right is so granted. As at
31 December 2014, no voting right has been granted by the
Board to the Trustee and no voting right in respect of the
Shares held by it under the Scheme has been exercised in
any general meeting of the Company after the adoption of
the Share Award Scheme.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
comprised approximately 56.8% of the Group’s total sales
and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
were approximately 25.0% of the Group’s total sales.
The aggregate purchases during the year under review
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 27.1% of the Group’s cost of sales and the
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were
approximately 7.2% of the Group’s cost of sales.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or substantial shareholders (which own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2014 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations
during the year under review (2013: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB302.1
million. Details of the movements are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company did not redeem any of its listed shares
during the year ended 31 December 2014. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
repurchased any of the listed shares of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2014.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of
their holding of Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS

During the year under review and as at the date of this report,
the Board comprises the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman)
(resigned on 25 March 2015)

Ms. Wu Ching

Mr. Lai Fengcai (Chief executive officer)
(resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Yuan Weitao (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy

Mr. Feng Xiaohui (appointed on 25 March 2015)
Mrs. Guo Yan (appointed on 25 March 2015)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Dr. Li Xiuging (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Wong Chi Keung (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Liu Erhfei (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan (appointed on 25 March 2015)

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Ms.
Wu Ching, Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy, Mr. Feng Xiaohui, Mr.
Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Liu Erhfei and Mr. Chan Chi Keung,
Alan will retire from the office of Director by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each of the executive Directors
and the non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 24 September 2013, whereas each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from 24 September 2013.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends
to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Company to the Directors. The remuneration
of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the

senior management of the Group are set out on pages 17 to
25 of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, there was no contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director
had a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly,
and subsisted at the end of the financial year under review
or at any time during the financial year under review save
as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Disclosures” below and note 33 to the financial statements.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its jointly controlled
entities and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2014.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as of
31 December 2014 are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2014, the interests or short positions of
each Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFQ”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which are being taken or deemed to have
taken under such provision of the SFO); or were required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or were required pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
the Company (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10

IS (PE)BRAH

Directors’ Report
EEERE

EERERGN 2 ER

R TRER 5 | —BRATIEES - NABSEEAHEA R
BERIVEAREXEAH  AARAESTHEEPEER
M 08 A7 2 B0 00 B8 B R4 2 46 SR B sk [ R B
FERNEARFFEDABREREARNGL - T FEES
W | — 8 R RAR MR B3 AT BE RSN -

ESRNEEER 2 ER

BE_Z-NME+_A=1+—HIFE HEEZLEL
NE AR GIE S MM E AR FERF M ERP
ZRCREREIEE Fal

ESREROUES 2ER

REEEFEARTMARRE  SEAENEERREZARSB
SARKEFLZETEBBEEARR AN HESFH T S
RS HRER] - RENEITEEAZFERN A - HiE
P ) sl BRI BB 2 B sk [F R M B R R IR 2 B ] &2
BE o BRERABAARMAABBOZEERN -

MEAE

ARBETEMBRATNR_-F—
BN SRR MEE34 o

mME+_—A=1t—HKFHIE

RRFEERRETRAERKND - HERGO K &S+
MRS R R

RIE—NE+_A=+—H EFERESTHAERK
@7%%@H£l(¢%ﬁ%ﬁ&%%5ﬁ% B M EE K
B ([ 755 R EREE 1) EBEXVER) Bk (D - R REH
FREEEIRIEEAE M SIS EXVEE T 8D afaMmE AN

A MR TR R SOA B (BIEIRIE R 5 LSRN B B
wa%ﬁiﬁﬁ%Em%‘&&ﬁv FIREFEHFLPE
1615 28 352 IR B L BRI RZ IR Pl B Al M E R SlOA B 5 3k
BIE ETRAMES A0 TH AR R EREITHESFR HRIZE

r;,om

—E-NEFERE S

& ot
g



Directors’ Report
EEEWmE

of the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Interestin our Company

SFRN(MEAESPEI ) BAG AR T R R s kA 1A
™

() REDFHER

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Securities shareholding
EEER ERME HEHA BAORET D
Wu Ching (Note) Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77%
- B corporation
HARE (PfEE) R EE R
Wong Kwai Mo (Note) Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77%
B corporation
F AR (fEE) R AR R

Note: Each of Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo holds 50% of the
issued share capital of Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(“Changfeng BVI").

(i) Interest in associated corporations

Biat - BHER R 112 & B34 50% Changfeng Axle Holdings
Ltd. ([5EBVI]) EZ7TRA -

(i) REBEZENEDS

Name of associated Number of Percentage
Name of Director corporation shares Shareholding
EE=E8 HEEE AR R EE REBEDLE
Wu Ching Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
HAEH BLBVI
Wong Kwai Mo Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
FHER HE BV

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REXBBEN R-F-—NE+-A=+—0 - #EA
RABEEREBTRABRHES HHOHEATRARR
ok HLARR R (GR35 3B 0 B (6 36 XV 2 ) AR 15 - 4R
BRRID R E S P AR SRS RS RO B XVEET Ke
D EA IR AL A R VBRSO R (BIEIR B A R
ER R (500 007 RS 4 VS AR I G MRS A R) - o)
ARIRB 5 I H % 1591 56 362 16 /B0 80 I Tt B 3R
REIAR - RERET AN AR A RBL A0
BRAR -

32 Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2014, so far as was known to the
Directors and chief executives of the Company, the following
persons had interests and short positions of 5% or more in
the Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying

Directors’ Report
EEERE

FERR
RZZE—NF+_A=+—0H BEARAEZRESTH

ABFrHE - R R B RIEE S M S R 5E 336 157
FEZELMAREZ 5% FIA LSRR ALIT

RARRGREBARONFRERAR

Shares of our Company

Name of Shareholders

BREM

Nature of interest

e

Interests in
Shares

(long position (L)/
short position (S))
I3 R =
(BAL), KA (S)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
A R
Bk

Notes

Byt

Changfeng BVI
HEBVI

Wu Ching
B

Wong Kwai Mo

TR

Starr International Foundation

Starr International AG

Starr International Company Inc.

Starr International Investments Ltd

Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd

Starr International Cayman, Inc.

Starr Investments

Beneficial owner
EnEEA

Interest of a controlled
corporation
SN E

Interest of a controlled
corporation
SN E

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP AE R

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP LB R

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP LB R

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP AE R

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP LB R

Interest of a controlled
corporation
TP LE R

Beneficial owner
EmEAA
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406,128,560(L)

406,128,560(L)

406,128,560(L)

224,710,691(L)

224,710,691(L)

224,710,691(L)

224,710,691(L)

114,801,600(L)

114,801,600(L)

114,801,600(L)

T MEFERE

50.77%

50.77%

50.77%

14.66%

14.66%

14.66%

14.66%

14.35%

14.35%

14.35%
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Interests in
Shares

(long position (L)/

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest short position (S)) shareholding Notes
IR0 HE 2% B RE
R BB ERME (#F & (L), KB (S) ADL M=t
Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. Beneficial owner 109,909,091 (L) 717% 2
BEEAA
Century East Network Limited Interests of a party to 732,727,272(L) 91.59% 3
an agreement to
acquire interests in 732,727,272(S) 91.59%
the Company
WA R B H AT
HESYaE oL E
Century Investment (Holding) Limited Interest of a controlled 732,727,272(L) 91.59%
corporation
R EE R
732,727,272(S) 91.59% 3
Pun Tang Interest of a controlled 732,727,272(L) 91.59% 3
corporation
SN
732,727,272(S) 91.59%
Jindi Wu Interest of a controlled 84,263,636(L) 5.50% 4
corporation
R EE R
Jinyu Developments Limited Beneficial owner 84,263,636(L) 5.50% 4

(“Jinyu Developments”)

wEERARARE ([HEER])

EDBEA
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Notes:

1. Changfeng BVI is owned as to 50% by Wu Ching and as to 50%
by Wong Kwai Mo. Both Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Changfeng BVI for
the purpose of the SFO.

2. Starr Investments is wholly-owned by Starr International Cayman,
Inc., which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd.. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. and
Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Starr International Investments Ltd., which is in turn wholly-
owned by Starr International. Starr International is wholly-
owned by Starr International AG, which is wholly-owned by Starr
International Foundation, a charitable foundation established in
Switzerland.

Each of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG,
Starr International, Starr International Investments Ltd., Starr
Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. and Starr International Cayman,
Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Starr
Investments for the purpose of the SFO.

Each of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG,
Starr International and Starr International Investments Ltd. is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Starr Investments
Cayman V, Inc. for the purpose of the SFO.

The approximate percentage of shareholding in which each
of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG, Starr
International, Starr International Investments Ltd. is interested
is calculated with reference to the percentage of shareholding
of both Starr Investments and Starr Investments Cayman V,
Inc. upon the Subscription Completion and the Acquisition
Completion.

3. Century East, being a party to the Subscription Agreement
and the Acquisition Agreement under which an aggregate
of 782,727,272 Shares will be allotted and issued to its
shareholders, is therefore deemed to be interested in the
732,727,272 Shares, for the purpose of SFO. In addition, as at
the Latest Practicable Date, Century East is owned by CIH as to
69% and CIH, together with Ms. Pun Tang as its sole shareholder,
is therefore deemed to be interested in the interests of Century
East, for the purpose of SFO. Upon the Subscription Completion
and the Acquisition Completion, CIH will be interested in
505,581,818 Shares, representing approximately 32.99% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company.

4, Upon the Subscription Completion and the Acquisition
Completion, Jinyu Developments and Ms. Jindi Wu will be
interested in 84,263,636 Shares, representing approximately
5.50% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

5. Save as Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo being the directors of the
Changfeng BVI and Dong Ying Dorothy being a director of Starr
Investments and Century East, none of the Directors is a director
or employee of the companies or trust foundation disclosed in this
paragraph.

Save as disclosed above, as at the 31 December 2014, so
far as was known to the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, no other person or companies (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or who were, directly or indirectly, interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group.
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2. Starr Investments /1 Starr International Cayman, Inc. &
# & - Starr International Cayman, Inc. # Starr Insurance
and Reinsurance Ltd. = & # & ° Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd. % Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc.
Starr International Investments Ltd. 892 E/E X 7] » Starr
International Investments Ltd. /7 Starr International = &/E# °
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2014.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the employer and employee are
required to make contributions of 5% of the employees’
relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to the
scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic
of China participate in the retirement schemes operated
by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries to
these schemes to pay the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group in respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the
income statement amounted to approximately RMB6.2
million (2013: approximately RMB8.2 million). Details of the
Group’s pension scheme and the basis of calculation are set
out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s
accountability and transparency. The Company therefore
strives to attain and maintain effective corporate governance
practices and procedures. Throughout the year ended 31
December 2014 and save as disclosed herein this report,
the Company has complied with the CG Code contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s principal
corporate governance practices are set out on pages 33 to
43 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 27 December 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Longyan Shengfeng, and the connected person
of the Company, Lonking Machinery, entered into the equity
transfer agreement pursuant to which Longyan Shengfeng
has conditionally agreed to acquire and Lonking Machinery
has conditionally agreed to sell its 40% interest in the JV
Company, details of which are founded in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 December 2013.

On 27 December 2013, the JV Company, Lonking
Machinery and Fujian Changfeng also entered into a debt
waiver agreement in relation to the extinguishment of the
account payable in the sum of RMB33,908,400 due to
Lonking Machinery in respect of certain equipments and
machinery for the production of gears and the sale and
acquisition of the two sets of inverted vertical turning centers
for the production of gears, details of which are disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 27 December 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
entered into the following continuing transactions with
its connected persons. The transactions constituted
“continuing connected transactions” for the Company
under the Listing Rules. The transactions are subject to the
reporting requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING,
ANNOUNCEMENT AND INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

1.

o
——

Purchase of roughcast axle housing from
Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing
Factory (“Yongding Changfeng”)

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with
Yongding Changfeng, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase or procure its subsidiaries to
purchase roughcast axle housing from Yongding
Changfeng for the production of the products for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2012. Subsequently on 24 December
2012, the parties entered into a renewal agreement to
renew the terms of the Purchase Agreement for a fixed
term of another three years expiring on 31 December
2015.

The price for the roughcast axle housing supplied
by Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

o the price which is no less favourable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.

Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the actual aggregate
amount of transactions under the Purchase
Agreement was approximately RMBO0.3 million and the
annual cap amount granted by the Stock Exchange
Was RMB20 million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING AND
ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS BUT EXEMPT
FROM THE INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS'’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENT

2.

Supply Agreement with Yongding Changfeng

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Yongding
Changfeng, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to supply or procure members of the Group
to supply scrap steel which is steel waste created
during the production of steel and expected to be
disposed of or not required by the Group to Yongding
Changfeng for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012. Subsequently
on 24 December 2012, the parties entered into a
renewal agreement to renew the terms of the Supply
Agreement for a fixed term of another three years
expiring on 31 December 2015.

The price for the scrap steel supplied by the Group
to Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favorable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.

Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, there was no actual
amount of transactions under Supply Agreement
and the annual cap amount granted by the Stock
Exchange was RMB20 million.

IS (PE)BRAH

Directors’ Report
EEERE

ABTHRERAMHRAEEERRETELRRIERE
MFERERS

KEREHHIER S

R-F-—ZFFAA-_1TNIA  ARAFEXERER]
VT ERE( fERZ] - Ei - ARFREH
& S fie (2 AN 2 B P & A A [R oK E & 2 e Rl (£
EMRREPELAMASEEHLEERTFE2HH AR
) B-E-EF-A-HBBRE_T—_F+_H

=+t—BLEAB=F - —FT——F+=-A=+mMmA
& Hﬁﬁﬂi%%%* MEETF% %@

N

A AR A )G & R RE S AV B AR AR IBIA T &
ERBRRFERE

e  WER G REBEXREE(REHATMERLS
HREPTE BV EMIEAR)

. {Eﬂ%i% C RIBBEKEEIESI THEZEE

o EHERARFEENEEREZEE REMSE
1B

s FEULTEIFMEENERE  RIEHN
é%@ﬁ%$%%ﬂ§%ﬁ%zﬁ%%%%

EXAEARRRERBRRZ —THEELENRR
FHo AN KEREAURATIKERENEERERA
FITREIBE R E KRR KE R LSRR &8
B EERAEETZESITES - AT EmRASE
14A.06 & 14A 114 1& - K EREWRBARRFIHE
BATL e

REEFEREAR  HEWZATLTEERZIS5%5 - M
BMRENFE LREBER/AARKE20BETT -

B

99

‘?}

—E-NEFERE 51

i
g



Directors’ Report
EEEWmE

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions of the Group.
The auditor has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and the report of the auditor.

Based on the work performed, the auditors of the
Company confirmed to the Board that the above
continuing connected transactions:

(i) have been approved by the Board;

(i)  arein accordance with the pricing policy of the
Group;

(i)  have been entered into under the terms of the
related agreements governing the transactions;
and

(iv)  have not exceeded the relevant cap amount
allowed by the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above connected continuing
transactions and are in the opinion that the above
continuing connected transactions entered into by the
Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i)  either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b)
where there is no available comparison, on
terms that are no less favorable to the Group
than terms to or from independent third parties;
and

(i)  in accordance with the agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the
Company.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other
transaction which needs to be disclosed as connected
transaction in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2014,
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received, from each of the controlling
shareholders of the Company, an annual declaration on
his/her/its compliance with the undertakings contained in
the Deed of Non-Competition entered into by each of them
in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the
controlling shareholders of the Company has undertaken to
the Company that he/she/it will not and will procure that his/
her/its associates (other than members of the Group) not to,
engage in any of our business including (without limitation)
the following activities:

° acquiring, holding, developing, transferring, disposing
or otherwise dealing in, whether directly or indirectly,
axle components business or related investments;

° engaging, having a right or in any way having an
economic interest, in the promotion or development of
or investment in axle components business; or

° acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or otherwise
dealing in any option, right or interest over any of the
matters set out in the two paragraphs above;

except for acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or
otherwise dealing in, directly or indirectly, shares of any
company, joint venture, corporation or entity of any nature,
whether or not incorporated, with any interest in the matters
set out in the three paragraphs above so long as their
aggregate interest in any such entity is less than 5% of its
equity interest.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in
the Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with
Our Controlling Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and were satisfied that each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company has complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2014,
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 18 May, 2015 to Thursday, 21 May 2015,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to determine who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 21 May
2015, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 May 2015.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) had reviewed together with the management
and external auditors the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2014 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2015
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2014.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to being a transparent and responsible organization which
is open and accountable to the Company’s shareholders.
The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve
the corporate governance practices of the Group from time
to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for shareholders.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of seven Directors, three of whom
are executive Directors, one of whom is non-executive
Director and three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. The functions and duties conferred on the
Board include convening shareholders’ meetings and
reporting on the work of the Board to the shareholders
at shareholders’ meetings as may be required by
applicable laws, implementing resolutions passed at
shareholders’ meetings, determining the Company’s
business plans and investment plans, formulating
the Company’s annual budget and final accounts,
formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend and
bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and
applicable laws. The senior management is delegated
with the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the
day-to-day management and operations of the Group.
The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company, and considers
and approves the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. The composition of the Board is well balanced
with the directors having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience
and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.
The executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors bring a variety of experience and expertise to the
Company.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31
December 2014 and up to the date of this Annual Report is
set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman)
(resigned on 25 March 2015)

Ms. Wu Ching

Mr. Lai Fengcai (Chief executive officer)
(resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Yuan Weitao (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy
Mr. Feng Xiaohui (appointed on 25 March 2015)
Mrs. Guo Yan (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Dr. Li Xiuging (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (resigned on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Wong Chi Keung (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Liu Erhfei (appointed on 25 March 2015)

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan (appointed on 25 March 2015)

The biographical details of the current Board members are
set out under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 17 to 25 of this report.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified
in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
and the independent non-executive directors represented
over one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company
considers that the three independent non-executive
Directors are independent and that they have met the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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All Directors have separate and independent access to
the Company’s senior management to fuffill their duties
and, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. All Directors also have access to the
company secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/
committee papers are distributed to the Directors/Board
committee members with reasonable notices in advance
of the meetings. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings
of Board committees, which record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting
views expressed, are kept by the company secretary and
are open for inspection by Directors.

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate
activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company, and considers and
approves the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo is the husband of Ms. Wu Ching, and
Ms. Wu Ching is the wife of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo. Save as
disclosed, there is no other relationship among members of
the Board, the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 24 September 2013, whereas each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 24
September 2013.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the roles and
duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are carried out by different individuals and have
been clearly defined in writing.
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The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, and the
Chief Executive Officer is Mr. Lai Fengcai. The positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by separate
persons in order to preserve independence and a balance
of views and judgement. With the support of the senior
management, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring
that the Directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on
issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of
the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing
strategic plans and formulating the organizational structure,
control systems and internal procedures and processes for
the Board’s approval.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. All directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, some of the
Directors attended external seminars and/or conferences
organized during the year under review. All Directors also
read materials in relation to regular update to statutory
requirements, Listing Rules and other relevant topics related
to a listed company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees
1o oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each
of these committees comprises independent non-executive
Directors who are being invited to join as members.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control principles of the Company and to provide advice
and comments to the Board. The members meet regularly
with the external auditors and the Company’s senior
management for the review, supervision and discussion
of the Company’s financial reporting and internal control
procedures and ensure that management has discharged
its duty to have an effective internal control system. The
Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Chong Ching Hei, Mr. Zhu Weizhou and Dr. Li Xiuging,
of whom are all independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Chong Ching Hei, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
under review to review the financial results of the Group and
significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, selection and appointment
of the external auditors.

Corporate Governance Functions

During the period under review, the Audit Committee is
also responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

° to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with all legal and regulatory
requirements (where applicable);

° to develop, review and monitor the relevant code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and directors of the Group; and

° to review the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 24
September 2010 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhu Weizhou with two
Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hei and Mr. Wong
Kwai Mo, as members. The principal responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are to formulate and recommend
remuneration policy to the Board, make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all Directors’ and senior management’s remunerations,
approve and review management’s proposals with reference
to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors of the Company. The Board expects
the Remuneration Committee to exercise independent
judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not
participate in the determination of their own remunerations.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee
meeting during the year under review to review and made
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 24
September 2010. The chairman is Dr. Li Xiuging, an
independent non-executive Director, and the two other
members are Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and Mr. Zhu Weizhou,
The Nomination Committee is responsible for determining
the policy for the nomination of Directors, reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board on selection of candidates
for directorships, appointment and reappointment of
Directors and Board succession and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the board diversity policy and
recognizes board diversity as the key element for the
achievement of its strategic goals and sustainable
development.

In considering the composition and diversity of the Board,
the Company takes into account a number of factors from
various aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
decisions regarding appointment of members of the Board
will be based on the candidates’ meritocracy having regard
to a set of objective standards that take into account the
benefits of board diversity.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a set of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be made with reference to the candidates’ merits and
contributions to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year under review to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee and the general
meeting of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2014 is set out below:
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Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EzgeR ERZES FMzEe REZEE REBEAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman) THEBRE(FR) 8/9 N/A i 11 il 11
Ms. Wu Ching L. 8/9 N/A N N/A TN N/A N il
Mr. Lai Fengcai BEXxE 9/9 N/A TR N/A T iER N/A @R 0/1
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy BELL 6/9 N/A TN F N/A N F N/A TE 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Zhu Weizhou REMFEE 7/9 2/2 11 11 1/1
Dr. Li Xiuging EHEEL 6/9 2/2 N/A TR il 0/1
Mr. Chong Ching Hei EEESE 99 2/2 1 N/A @R 11
Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that the PEEATZTANEXEABTIEREBLIFRTEER

independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings of the Company.
Due to prior business and personal engagements external to
the Company, the non-executive Director, Ms. Dong Ying,
Dorothy and the independent non-executive Director, Dr. Li
Xiuging were unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held during the year ended 31 December
2014.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for securities transactions. Specific
enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the period under review, they were in
compliance with the required provisions set out in the Model
Code. All Directors declared that they have complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2014.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards. The statement of
the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Group’s auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
are as follows:
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Items Amount
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(RMB’000)

(AE¥FT)

Statutory audit services SETEZ B RS 1,347
Non-audit services IERZBAR TS —
Total BE 1,347
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The Company has established written policies
and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also
has a process of identifying, evaluating, and managing the
significant risks to the achievement of its operational objective.
This process is subject to continuous improvement and has
been in place since 24 September 2010 and up to the date
of this report. The day-to-day operation is entrusted to the
individual department, which is accountable for its own
conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere
to the policies set by the Board. The Company carries out
reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems
from time to time in order to ensure that they are able to
meet and deal with the dynamic and ever changing business
environment.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management for the year ended 31
December 2014. Internal Control department was assigned
to assist the Board to perform a high-level review of the
internal control systems for its business operations and
processes. Such review covered the financial, compliance
and operational controls as well as risk management
mechanisms and assessment was made by discussions
with the management of the Company and its external
auditors. The Board believes that the existing internal control
systems are adequate and effective.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
REQUISITION AND CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (INCLUDING PROPOSING A
RESOLUTION AT AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING)

o Any two or more shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholders”) shall at all times have the
right, by a written requisition signed by the Eligible
Shareholders concerned (the “Requisition”), to require
the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, and to put any resolution so requisitioned to
vote at such extraordinary general meeting.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to requisition the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
for the purpose of proposing a resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting must deposit the
Requisition at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room 708, 7/F, Delta
House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the names of
the Eligible Shareholders concerned, specify the
objects of the meeting, and be signed by the Eligible
Shareholders concerned. The Eligible Shareholders
must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company.

The Company will check the Requisition and the
identities and the shareholdings of the Eligible
Shareholders will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrar. If the Requisition is found
to be proper and in order and in compliance with
the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the Board will within 21 days of the date of
deposit of the Requisition, proceed duly to convene
an extraordinary general meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, for the purpose of putting any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to
vote at such extraordinary general meeting. However,
if the Requisition has been verified as not in order
and not in compliance with the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company, the Eligible
Shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene
an extraordinary general meeting and will not put any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to
vote at any such extraordinary general meeting or any
other general meeting of the Company.

If within 21 days of the date of deposit of the
Requisition, the Board has not advised the Eligible
Shareholders that the Requisition is not in order and
not in compliance with the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company, and the Board has
failed to proceed to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the Eligible Shareholders themselves (or any
one or more of the Eligible Shareholders who holds
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all the
Eligible Shareholders who signed the Requisition)
may proceed to convene the extraordinary general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which general meetings may be convened by
the Board in accordance with the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company, provided that
the extraordinary general meeting so convened must
be held before the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the Requisition. All reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholders
concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholders concerned

:_by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Board also recognizes
that effective communication with its investors is critical
in establishing investors’ confidence and attracting new
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining
a high degree of transparency to ensure the investors and
the shareholders of the Company will receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group
through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes
all corporate communications on the Company’s website
at www.changfengaxle.com.hk. Further, shareholders of
the Company may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The Board maintains regular
dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time
to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy,
operations, management and plans. The Directors and
members of various board committees will attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and answer any questions
raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.

The chairman of general meetings of the Company would
explain the procedures for conducting a poll before
proposing a resolution for voting. The poll results will
be announced at general meetings and published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial
media, and promptly releases information related to any
significant progress of the Company, so as to promote the
development of the Company through mutual and efficient
communications.

During the year under review, there was no change to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

Shareholders investors and the media can make enquiries to
the Company through the following means:

Telephone number:  (852) 2638 1663

By post: Room 708, 7/F, Delta House,

3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, Hong Kong
Attention: Mr. Chan Yuk Man, Calvin
By email: ir@changfengaxle.com

[
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

Deloitte.
BE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHANGFENG AXLE
(CHINA) COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 139, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Included in the consolidated financial statements as at
31 December 2014 were property, plant and equipment
and inventories related to the Group’s train and railway
business with carrying amounts of approximately
RMB220,354,000 and RMB34,367,000 respectively. As
set out in notes 16 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company determined
that the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and the net realisable value of the inventories
approximated to their carrying amounts and therefore no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2014.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (CONTINUED)

However, the sales of train and railway components to the
Group’s only customer in Russia have been suspended
since May 2014 and have not recommenced as at the
date of this report. The cash flow projection prepared by
the directors on which the Group’s impairment analysis
is based assumes a significant volume of sales to this
customer in the coming twelve months and thereafter. The
directors of the Company considered the suspension in
the sales to be temporary and the sales will recommence
in the second quarter of 2015, and therefore did not adjust
the assumptions in the cash flow projection. Due to the
ongoing suspension of sales to this customer, we were
unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether such assumption
is reasonable and accordingly whether any impairment
in respect of the property, plant and equipment and the
inventories should be recognised for the year ended 31
December 2014. Any adjustments found to be necessary
would affect the Group’s financial position as at 31
December 2014 and the loss for the year then ended.

QUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December
2014, and of its loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention
to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
RMB149,730,000 during the year ended 31 December
2014. The directors of the Company consider that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations provided that it is able to successfully renew
the banking facilities and implement the other measures as
set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
However, these conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2015

RS (PE)BRAF

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB S

= ]

EYEE—SULRELRBERNBERT  B53
# ETEIGAMBRENEL AR REER
BE-T-MF+-A=t+— BUFEELBROARS
149,7300007C « BAFESRA - BEERARNE
YESUAREERE  RABTRNETRIRERE
MR H0IEE (NG AT IFRENEE2FTH) « AT - B
RERGE—EESATHREE T8 REBSECE
ZHENBERR -

=5 o« BER A SETEIT
HE DA

BB
—E-—RF=F=—+mMH

—E-NEFERE 57




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBmkHEMAEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-F-MET=ASt-ALFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other (expense) income and other
gains and losses

Selling and distribution expenses

Research and development expenditure

Administrative expenses

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of prepaid lease payments

NOTES
B aE

WA 8
SHE A
e
b (FS) WA R EAD
Weas K& g518 9
SHE RO A
e
THFAX
HE—RHHBARZEE 29
Z 5 W R IE R (AR 1E 20
M - WEMREEZ
B ERRERE

BNAEFIEZ ERRRERE

Reversal of impairment loss recognised PIEBFIEHEEENDE
in respect of property, plant and R I 5%t 2 B TER
equipment classified as assets B E IR B
held for sale 23
Finance costs BE KR 10
Loss before tax FR#% A E1E 11
Taxation I8 12
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREERS AT
expense for the year
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive LA AR (B518) s 1) &
(expense) income attributable to: 2H (Fx) WA B
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEEZZEDN
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AE
Basic loss per share FREREE 14
COmm
(=
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2014 2013
—E-mEF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
336,928 429,795
(298,243) (356,915)
38,685 72,880
(3,056) 2,573
(20,529) (25,656)
(17,725) (23,988)
(62,802) (68,204)
(6,105) -
(20,080) (89,600)
(55,764) (62,133)

- (30,332)

26,712 19,602
(29,336) (32,552)
(150,000) (227,410)
270 (645)
(149,730) (228,055)
(152,449) (208,245)
2,719 (19,810)
(149,730) (228,055)
RMB RMB
ARW AR®
(0.19) (0.26)




Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Prepayment for acquisition of machinery
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade receivables

Bills receivables

Other receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Tax recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Other payables
Borrowings-due within one year
Tax liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 139
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 24 March 2015 and are signed on its behalf

by:

DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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at 31 December 2014

R=Z-—NFE+=-A=+—8
2014 2013
—E-NF —T—=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRE  ARETR
302,098 524,037
203,763 262,391
236 2,602
145 -
506,242 789,030
220,933 240,344
160,420 177,077
53,079 87,449
131,872 140,508
4,378 6,241
2,439 2,439
3,350 -
6,858 57,902
583,329 711,960
187,544 80,591
770,873 792,551
87,919 123,995
158,544 119,721
336,879 464,167
1,343 1,343
584,685 709,226
186,188 83,325
692,430 872,355
- 195
692,430 872,160
53,560 53,560
638,870 799,844
692,430 853,404
- 18,756
692,430 872,160
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

1: ")i,ﬁ;ﬁ@]%%

n‘/-_R

for the year ended 31 December 2014

%‘177 W¥+ )ﬁ T—ALEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
RAREARE
Shares
held under
awarded (Accumulated
shares losses) Non-
Share Share  Capital  Surplus  Special compensation  retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserves  reseves  scheme  eamings Total interests Total
RELER
fhHE  (ZiER)
RE  ROEE RABRE BEBEE  GRRE SANRG  REEH ait  FERER fit
RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'OD  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBI0O0  RMB'OO0  RMBIO00
MREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR AREAR
(note g (note by (notec)
(Wa) (Wb (ko)
At 1 January 2013 “F-=%--H 53,660 59929 206982 149020 82 (1,627) 33096 1,061,649 366 1,100215
Loss and total comprehensive EWEE&EE%@%@%
expense for the year - - - - - - 08245 (208.245) (19810 (228,099)
At 31 December 2013 and HZE-=Ht2A=1-R
1 January 2014 RZZ-RE-R-H 53,660 59929 206982 149020 82 (1627) (174649 863404 18796 872,160

(Loss) proftand totel comprehensive En(B8) HRaE (Fx)

(expense) income for the year W\EE - - - - - - (49 (M9 M9 (149730)

Acauiion of adaffona nterest EE-HHELAL

i asubsidary [ote 28) PR (HTs) - - - - B - S 2 T4 T 1

At 31 December 2014 i P o el 53,560 599,296 226,962 149,020 (7,70) (1621 (327,09 692430 - 692,430

Notes: Wi -

a. The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer and a. ZERIER T N\FELR_TENFA TTENMETERSE
deemed contribution arising from group reorganisation for EREARRED IR © B8 AR
listing purposes which took place in 2008 and 2009.

b.  The balance comprising statutory surplus reserve and b. RESBIETAIDIREEERGFHERDBERSREE  H2E
discretionary surplus reserve, which are non-distributable FEEETHER R IEREARLME([HE]) A RE
and the transfer to these reserves is determined TEHRPENEBATINESSREZEWB ATIANALSIZHR
according to the relevant laws in the People's Republic E o A ERBEEN BERGEEEEBNER KA TS EH
of China (the "PRC") and by the board of directors of BATINEINER - NSEBEE AEERAA R TR E
the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the Article of N EIREFR S ERE o
Association of the subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve
can be used to make up for previous year's losses or
convert into additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of
the Company. Discretionary surplus reserve can be used
to expand the existing operations of the Company's PRC
subsidiaries.

C. Amount of RMB822,000 represents the difference C. ARBEG22 000 TR —Z 2 F YN — R B A 7 5o E
between the amount paid for acquisition of additional HEENFOREE W IR RS 2 =58 o
interest in a subsidiary during year 2007 and the non-
controlling interests being acquired of.

Amount of RMBB,525,000 recognised during the year B P AR 8,525,000 7T IR MRS I — R 2 MRBS MBS T T
represents the difference between the amount paid for SENTEEEREENBATHIEHEENENSREED IEE
acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary without the JEIE SRS BRE (B 2 =58 ©
overall gain or loss of control in that subsidiary and the
carrying amount of non-controlling interest being acquired
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs
Release of prepaid lease payments
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
— trade receivables
— advance to suppliers
— inventories
— property, plant and equipment
— prepaid lease payments
Reversal of impairment loss recognised
in respect of property,
plant and equipment classified as assets
held for sale
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital
Decrease in inventories
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease in bills receivables
Decrease (increase) in other receivables
(Decrease) increase in trade and bill payables

Decrease in other payables

Cash generated from operations
Income tax refund
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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2014 2013
—E-OF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
(150,000) (227,410)
(20,884) (4,388)
37,016 38,214
29,336 32,552
5,524 6,436
20,080 89,600
8,619 =
19,272 -
55,764 52,133

- 30,332
(26,712) (19,602)
6,105 =
25,599 (580)
(250) (216)
9,469 (2,929)
139 38,389
17,461 (6,892)
34,370 21,369
28,300 (3,974)
(36,076) 23,802
(15,217) (7,248)
38,446 62,517

- 644

(70) (245)
38,376 62,916
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

lﬂi E%é;UWEE%E

for the year ended 31 December 2014
BE-Z-NFE+-A=+—HLFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposit received for disposal of

assets classified as held for sale
Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary
Deposit received for disposal of a subsidiary
Proceeds on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of held for

trading investments
Prepayment for acquisition of machinery
Payment of prepaid lease payments
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Placement of pledged bank deposits

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

NET CASH FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of borrowings
Interest paid

New borrowings raised

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF YEAR, represented by
bank balances and cash

NOTES
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2014 2013
—E-mE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
36,000 -
35,000 -
28,000 28,000
5,875 9,725

250 216

- 20,000

(236) (40,083)
(1,001) (7,217)
(3,334) (10,582)
(3,350) -
(30,000) -
67,204 59
(526,588) (553,470)
(29,336) (32,552)
399,300 519,077
(156,624) (66,945)
(51,044) (3,970)
57,902 61,872
6,858 57,902




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands. Its immediate and
also its ultimate holding company is Changfeng
Axle Holdings Ltd. (incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands), which 50.8% equity interests are owned
by Wong Kwai Mo and Wu Ching in aggregate.
The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 24
September 2010. The address of the Company’s
registered office is at Room 708, 7/F, Delta House, 3
On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group
are manufacture and sale of axle and related
components in the PRC. Particulars of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 34.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Company, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity of
the Group in light of the fact that the Group incurred
a loss of RMB149,730,000 for the year ended 31
December 2014. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group is able to continue as a going
concern at least in the coming twelve months taking
into consideration the measures which include, but
are not limited to the following:

(@ The Group is able to renew banking facilities
from various banks in full upon their maturity
based on the past history and good
relationships of the Group with the banks for
the operation requirements of the Group.

(o) The disposal of land held by Sichuan
Changfeng Axle Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan
Changfeng”) will be completed and the
outstanding consideration as at 31 December
2014 amounted to RMB35,084,000. In
February 2015, RMB10,000,000 was received
and the remaining of RMB25,084,000 would
be received by April 2015.

IEER(PE)ARAT —T-HFFERS 63

A IS AR R
for the ar ended 3 December 2014
PALS Sl

—REHR

ARARASHSTIMALAEREBRAR - &
B R EAR A 5] A Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(REBEZESFMKL)  THERERBFE LR
BZAFIS0.8%KHE - RARMRNHEBE T —TF
NAZ+HBREREABERIMAERLDE L -
RATNFMPER LSBT B RE IR EE
AETHET08E °

ARBNEBRBA/REER - AKREWNEBEXRK
ANPBERGER HEBERFMERT T - AR
B ARFIEHNMIES4 o

HEMBHRRAARBTARE IR - AR
RARFHEEER -

ERGARBRRNEE

RREARNBGEMERERE ERNAEBRES
—ZE-ME+-_A=+—HILEERELEEAR
#149,730,0007C ' AAREFEHEEEAEE 2
ARRBES - AABEFRE » KEE(BIEETR
FRAN) LA NS AEBEEDREERR T+ —ERFE

@ L
g

(@) ERFEEMAKSEEBBFITNREMAE A%
BRENIRTTIEE R MR B S RITBHEHIRT
BENMEARBEZERE -

b) FEAHENGLEBERA T ([M)EGLE])
FEezt e R_ZFE—NF+—-_A=+—8 "
KRB A R ¥ 35,084,000 T HAWE - R ==
—HRFE=—F  BWEARE 10,000,0007T © %
T AR 25,084,000 TR == — R &P A A
UGER o




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ey tt&&%ﬁﬁ

for the year ended 31 December 2014
@EZEE*ELF‘f’ )qf‘t’ HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF RBGE M RRAERE ()

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(€0 The disposal of land held by Kaifeng © AITEAAKRE AR 102,690,000 7T H & 7 £
Changfeng Axle Co., Ltd. (“Kaifeng GEEBERAR([HAEGE D FE i -
Changfeng”) at a consideration of RZZE—RF— A2 WEH A R ¥ 73,000,000
RMB102,690,000 will be completed. In 7T 82 N AR 29,690,000 TR —E—RF
January 2015, RMB73,000,000 has been P9 A AHCER
received and the remaining of RMB29,690,000
would be received by April 2015.

(d)  The suspension in the sales of train and railway d) HEHBEREKRTII(GRIETEERESER
components is temporary and the directors BIHEBNR —_E—TEE _ZETEHFHHFLK -
believe the sales will be recommenced in the
second quarter of 2015.

() The Group has been applying more stringent e AEE—EFFREBRERAEESERRENR
selection criteria to select new customers for P AmMEkEE BRI H N ES]
new sales orders with better repayment terms. £ o

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG FER#ET RIS B BB SR EER ([ FAMKE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs and the new Interpretation
that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied for the first time in the current
year the following amendments to HKFRSs and a
new Interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
éi’éﬁﬁ%i&%ﬁﬁ‘l%m%ﬁ BB EZER
FA125E R BB ERE 27 58 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 32
EREETERE 325 (IB5]A)
Amendments to HKAS 36

BB SEIERIZE 36 5% (1B5]4N)
Amendments to HKAS 39

HREZEA )

7N 6 [0 ) AR B 2 B S B 1 v 5 2E RIS RT AR K
Rt
AEBRAFEFRAEATIEESHMAE ([ H
BEETRIAE |) TR BS M SRS R RFTE]
R o

Investment Entities

BE&E

‘ﬂﬂfii}

i

E

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

HKFeREERSREE

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial
Assets

FERMEE RO SRR

Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge

Accounting
EREGFTERIZE 39 5% (B7TA) TTETARRREPEDEZIEE
HK(IFRIC) Int 21 Levies
8 (EARMBHRERBEES)F 215 BE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the application of the
new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS
36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets for the first time in the current
year. The amendments to HKAS 36 remove the
requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of
a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwiill
or other intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives had been allocated when there has been no
impairment or reversal of impairment of the related
CGU. Furthermore, the amendments introduce
additional disclosure requirements applicable to
when the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is
measured at fair value less costs of disposal. These
new disclosures include the fair value hierarchy, key
assumptions and valuation techniques used which
are in line with the disclosure required by HKFRS 13
Fair Value Measurements.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the disclosures in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

3.

ARE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

BB EZERIZE 95
HKFRS 14

BB EZERZE 1457
HKFRS 15

BBV EERFE 165
Amendments to HKFRS 11

BB wEZERZE 1198 UBFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1
ARG mEERZE 15 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38
BB ERFE 165 KRB B ER
55385k (15T A)
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41
BB ERFE 165 KRB B ER
£ 41 5% (85T A)
Amendments to HKAS 19
ERGETERE 195 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 27
ERGETERIE 27 5 (IBE]A)
Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
ERVBMELERZE 109, - BETH
HEERFE 125 REBGFTHERIZE 2857

(EFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

B RERE 105 REESFHLER]
52855 (151 A)

Amendments to HKFRSs
BB EREER (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRSs
AR REER (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRSs
BBV REER (BFTA)

FERA#E] KRBT BB B|RELER ([T B
HmEER D) ()

EEMEERERWHET REETERBUBRE
4
AEBEWEEFEAATDEMERRERZHR]
RIER] B BYBHRELER -

Financial Instruments'

SR TH

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

BEEIRIEARE 2

Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

KEEFAKZWAS

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations®

W R 2 ERER T RIES

Disclosure Initiative®

BERETE°

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation®

PFrERBHATER TEZ BB
Agriculture: Bearer Plants®
BE - AEMEYS

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions*

RERMEE : EEHZK

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements®

L NVALIR i ey

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception®

REER - ERGRA AROHIIMERS

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture®
KEERABENRSGE R HANEELE
HIEAS

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2010-2012 Cycle®
BB RMEEN T —SFE_T——FEH
F SR

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2011-2013 Cycle*

ERVBREEN T ——FE_ZT—=FRHAZ
FE B

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2012-2014 Cycle®

EBVBREER T —FE_TNFRARY
FEHuHES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018, with earlier application
permitted.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial
statements beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with early application is permitted.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017, with earlier application
permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2014, with earlier application
permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, with earlier application
permitted.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2014, with limited exceptions.
Earlier application is permitted.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which
establishes a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede
the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts
and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

3.

RS (PE)BRAF

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)
° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract.

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have
a material impact on the amounts reported and
disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS
15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

The directors anticipate that the application of the
new or revised HKFRSs, other than those set out
above, will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32).

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will
be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for
sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and
other similar allowances.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entiting them to
the contributions.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date. Details regarding the determination of the fair
value of equity-settled share-based transactions are
set out in note 27.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Share award scheme

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of shares awarded at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
awarded shares compensation reserve.

When trustee purchases the Company’s shares
from the open market, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental
costs, is presented as shares held under awarded
shares compensation scheme and deducted from
total equity. No gain or loss is recognised on the
transactions of the Company’s own shares.

IEER(PE)ARAT —T-HFFERS Vi

ARE BTSSR ER Y EE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE—2-NFE+-A=t+—ALEE

FEEEBER ()

LRGBRBERNNIRRS (K)
BREEURO/ERNIRRS (H)
RELBRBEEURD RERNONRERBENR

FEERAEEHEREBE 2 RATANRBTEE
BOERBBHISE - MBS IRt A -

RBERR > AEEETHRAARKEBZBAT

AR

BEHEMEEr - BEIRBBTNFE(NE) NER
TR - A R A LSRRG - miERE A
BT AR o

HRBREERVNEBcBRE  ERBREQT
ERNRRIEE S -

TREBERER  TARBREREEINSHSE
BERMGE - HEBREREER BRI
REIBMBENARITE - QAR B EREEERN S
HeERERERN -

Ktr 2R)at &)

FERB 2 R FEDZ2EZRBROHNELEHZA
FEETE  ERBHBEABREIIERS @ TRE
BIRS {0 SREN B EAR FESE AN

WZFEAERRMERBARARD - MEHRE
(BREMERREEERN) 25 A RIZER KD
BT BB - W B AP - WER
RABARG B 2 R SRR B o




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014
BE-Z-NFE+-A=+—HLFE

e

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

Share award scheme (continued)

When the trustee transfers the Company’s shares
to grantees upon vesting, the related costs of the
granted shares vested are reversed from shares
held under awarded shares compensation scheme.
Accordingly, the related expense of the granted
shares vested is reversed from awarded shares
compensation reserve. The difference arising from
such transfer is debited/credited to accumulated
profits.

When the share awards are forfeited, the
amount previously recognised in awarded shares
compensation reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before
tax’ as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
professional fees and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of assets (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted

for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. loans and receivables
(including trade receivables, bills receivable, other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables where the recognition of interest would
e immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the financial assets have been affected.

FEEEBER ()

@I A (&)
EREE (&)

EEREZ
BERRAEET A EES TR KEB KR ARNAR S #
MR F S AR TTE - BREFXTHZERT
B ERH Bk (@A) 8IS HIR A E R E 2 1)
FHERNREFENBARRRSRA (BEBKE
BRAE AR RRBONENHAERN—DER - X
SRR B A B SATR) HO R

B T AR ARE RN REERER

EAREWNTE

B SR ER IR A M S B R Bk AT B RE N R FEDT A
TREE MEARZRMESLERE ERLEW
RE(BHEREZREFE - BRERE - HibRKHR
R BERRTERARRITESRLRE) HRABER
HSOE A SRR ASRAEDRE SRR

FEWATIRAERR M R MR - R R IAR
5N ARHERMENEEE

TREENIRHERARTERETR - HETEE
BEH SREENRAARASRENBERERS
BEERBLN-HAAZHEEHAMIIFE Al
BEERRBSGHIRRE -

84 Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest and principal payments;
or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such
as trade receivables, assets are assessed for
impairment on a collective basis even if they were
assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade, bills and
other payables and borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, (where appropriate), a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

The Group derecognises a financial liability when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company is required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(@)

Estimated impairment of property,

plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments

Whenever certain events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments may not
be recoverable, the directors conducted
an impairment review by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell) to the carrying
amount of the property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments related to the
group’s production. When the recoverable
amount is determined based on the value in
use calculation, the value in use calculation is
determined based on the expected future cash
flows arising from the usage of these assets
discounted by a suitable discount rate. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
December 2014, an impairment loss amounted
to RMB55,764,000 is recognised (2013: Nil)
in respect of property, plant and equipment
and related to the group’s production as
disclosed in note 16. No further impairment
loss is recognised (2013: Nil) in respect of
prepaid lease payments related to the Group’s
production as at 31 December 2014 as
disclosed in note 16.

For the property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments not for use in the
group’s production and/or held for sale, the
directors conducted an impairment review by
comparing its net realisable value less cost to
sell to the carrying amount. During the year,
an impairment loss of RMB26,712,000 for
the property, plant and equipment classified
as assets held for sale was reversed in 2014
(2013: impairment loss of RMB52,135,000
and RMB30,332,000 for property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments
respectively), as the estimated recoverable
amount is higher than the carrying amount at
the end of the reporting period (note 23).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment
loss, the Group takes into consideration the
estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition), together with the consideration
of subsequent settlement and aging of the
trade receivables. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2014, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is approximately RMB160,420,000 (net of
impairment loss of RMB282,231,000) (2018:
RMB177,077,000 net of impairment loss
of RMB283,035,000). During the year, an
additional impairment loss of RMB20,080,000
has been provided and impairment loss of
RMB20,884,000 brought forward from prior
year has been reversed.

Impairment of inventories

The Group records inventories at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price for
inventories, less all the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

()

(d)

Impairment of inventories (continued)

Operational procedures have been in place
to monitor the risk as a significant proportion
of the Group’s working capital is devoted to
inventories. Procedure-wise, the management
reviews the inventory aging listing on a
regular basis for those aged inventories. This
involves comparison of carrying value of the
aged inventory items with the respective net
realisable value. The purpose is to ascertain
whether allowance is required to be made
in the financial statements for any obsolete
and slow-moving items. Although the Group
carried periodic review on the net realisable
value of inventory, the actual realisable value
of inventory is not known until the sales take
place. As at 31 December 2014, the carrying
amount of inventories is approximately
RMB220,933,000 (2013: RMB240,344,000),
net of allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB19,272,000 (2013: Nil).

Provision for warranty claims

Provision for warranty is made based on the
possible claims on the products by customers
with reference to the warranty coverage period
and the percentage of warranty expenses
incurred over total sales amount during
the financial year. In case where the actual
claims are greater than expected, a material
increase in warranty expenses may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a claim takes place.
Warranty provision has been included in trade
and other payables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,063,000 at 31 December
2014 (2013: RMB1,071,000).

ARE B IS SRR EE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-ZT-MF+=A=t-HILFE

AT RERZRERRR (&)

fhEt FEEREEZERR (F)

(c)

(d)

BEEE (PE) BRAA

FERME (&)

AR EEEE RE ML EE S A EL N
G5 EREFITEERFUAERLRER - B
B EEECHMREFEERTESR
BE WP ERIBEREFEHEMERRER
Az EIRFE - ENARE—RT AR
MR EMREREHBEELEE - &
EASEEHENFENEREE  EEE
HER THSAMTENERTZERER - ©
—E—NUF+_A=+—H GFEEREEY
BARE220,933,000 (= FTE—=F: AR
#5240,344,0007T) * HBRTFEREHARE
19,272,000 L (ZF—=4F : &) -

RIERERE
RIEBEHEL2ERIEFHERBEEENR
BERZGRTBFEENEHEESENA LR
EEHEMMAEREMEL - MERRER
TEE A% - AMRISFA AJREREZEIL N - UL
PERRENPHMNIERHER - RT—14F
T A=+ —AREEERAET ARSI KL
e F AL A A RE 1,063,000 (ZE—=
F: AR¥1,071,0007T) °

—E-IEFERE 91




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. EXRRERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities AEEEBEBEAUBRAERANEEIGEFE
in the Group will be able to continue as a going EN R R BB ER RERER AR KK
concern while maximising the return to shareholders RER - REBNBERBREAFHIZIE -

through optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net AEEHEEAEREFES (HPBENTE25 P
debt, which includes bank and other borrowings BRIRITREMER) KB RASZFEEI X
disclosed in note 25, net of cash and cash RKABEA AE(E#ED  EReEEBTRANRE
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of 1 o

the Company, comprising issued share capital and

reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital ARARIEECHENERERE - (EAEHN —IB
structure periodically. As part of this review, the 5 BEERERKA RS EEARERA R o
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks AEBKBEBEESNHEERZZEBNRE « 38T
associated with each class of capital. Based on AR IA R BB B AR -« BATHES B O IR G &% &
recommendations of the directors, the Group will HERBEE AR o

balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. &@TA
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@ =@mIEE5
Carrying amount
BREE
Financial 2014 2013
instrument —E—F —T—=4F
classification RMB’000 RMB’000
EWMIEDE AR®T AREFIT
Financial assets
SRMEE
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables
B 5 & E At FEWGRIE B K FEWRIE 169,251 184,657
Bills receivables Loans and reoelvables
e B FEWR 53,079 87,449
Pledged bank deposits Loans and reoelvables
BEEIRRITIFK B R EWGRIE 3,350 -
Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables
IRITHER IR ® B K EWGRIE 6,858 57,902
232,538 330,008
Financial liabilities
=R
Trade, bills and other payables*® At amortised cost 216,526 209,019
B ENHIE - ENERREAEFRIE R HEK A
Borrowings At amortised cost 336,879 464,167
(EEN HREE SR AN
553,405 673,186
3 Excluded advances from customers, warranty 2 TEEREEFHBL - (RIEER - EENTFERE
provision, other tax payables and accruals. Ffa(E o
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bills receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade, bills and other payables and
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
included market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

EZ(E D)
B (ExT])

United States dollars (‘US$”)
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”)

A 5% increase or decrease in foreign
currencies against the functional currency of
the Company would not have a significant
effect in profit or loss of the Company.

£RIA (&)

(b)

(c)
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B BHERMNKE  BNRBEREMENK
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g RANXER)  EERRERBERR - T
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%% R ARECR K I A UERBUE E 15 7

B mk

AREEE TRITEBRAINEIIE - REBEIRE
WESNELIPBOR - AT - EREEZEELE
@ RN ERE BEIMEAINERER -

RBEHR - NREBAINESIENEREER
EERT

Assets
BE

2014 2013
= —FT-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFTT
162 114
1,444 1,949
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

ARE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

7. E@TIAGE

Interest rate risk (d) FIRER
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or MNERBA—BESRITAENARKEBESRENA
future cash flows of a financial instrument will B & A T 45 ) 2R AU T R B P A SR B9 LB ©
fluctuate because of changes in market interest 7N E2 B R R 17 45 64 BT R B AY K1) 2. 89 1) 2R o it
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow HE RS REFERR -
interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest
earned on the bank balances.
The Group’s borrowings have fixed interest AEENERABEFETE - WZAFEF
rates and therefore, are subjected to fair value KRR o
interest rate risk.
Sensitivity analysis BURE 2 M
The following analysis is prepared assuming the AT 2T 2 R R Th RS R & BA SR (M SR RV SR 1T
bank balances outstanding at the end of the EHRNEEFEESTE LT LS EHE
reporting period remain the same for the whole T - MaETEEIEABELAIRENFI=
year and all other variables were held constant. B\ B IR B & A R B S B ATE - BIE
A 25 basis points (2013: 25 basis points) RAAESGE2S EER (ZT— =4 : 25fFE
increase or decrease is used when reporting 2h) o
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.
For those bank balances with an interest rate of MZEFHZEAE0.001%REITESRME » AT
0.001% per annum, the analysis below reflects DT IRBRF R AT RER 0% SRS - MEFE
the sensitivity that the interest rate may drop BRI EE SR A (3 an) 2R ¢
to 0%. The pre-tax loss for both years would
decrease/(increase) as follows:
2014 2013
—E-IF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREBT T
25 basis points higher EF25 (EEES 26 145
25 basis points lower TRk25 {EEE (22) (140)
The Group monitors interest rate exposure and AREBEERTEREK - IR U ERE E L H
will consider hedging significant interest rate EpIESE
exposure should the need arise.
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—F-mE+=A=t-ALEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a
customer or third party to a financial asset fails
to meet its contractual obligations.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 15.7% (2013: 12.5%) and 55.9% (2013:
35.8%) of the total trade receivables are due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively. The Group also
has concentration of credit risk by geographical
location as trade and bills receivable, comprise
various debtors which are located in the PRC.

The Group manages this risk by reviewing the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group set up a committee (the
“Committee”) to focus on the settlement of
the trade receivables in September 2011 due
to the downturn of economy. The Committee
regularly reviewed on the recoverability of trade
receivables (including regularly communicated
with individual debtor, held internal meeting to
discuss and analyse the status on individual
debtor, and seeked for lawyer review on the
status of debtor with financial or operational
problems). Based on the nature of customers,
the Committee classified the customers to
different portfolios for analysis. The works
of Committee included understanding of
background, financial strength, sales and
repayment of each portfolio.

7.

ERMTR (&

(e)

FERE
EERRAE—REREENTFPRE=TTK
EERTTHANAEEMELEINEENRER -

AEBHEEME S ERRIBERE57% (=
T —=F :1125%) k55.9%( =& — =4F:
35.8%) MIfEESHRER - HAIREASEN &
ABEFRAREF - BRZZEME ZEBGR
HNEREBENEBSADMRFRE - HAEE
i EIRRIREERBREFRIER

AEEZBERENBEHRZERE S EHH
AREl S RERIIRRE - MRS TR
W Bl RN R SRR ERIR A

—T—FNA - AREERE  AEER
—BZEe (288 ]) UBTEZRIGR
FEISN - ZE@E MR E S RNFIRDN
A (B E HEERER A BR - 817
WESE & f R D AT E R ERS AR - 3L
FEMBREEFENEB AN RS IOERE
BR) REEFPHUEE ZEEREFPOR
RTIFAEETHIT - ZEENREBE TR
RHANER  MBEN  HEREERES -

AV
i)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

U]

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the Group
had trade receivables amounted to
RMB442,651,000 (2013: RMB460,112,000)
before impairment loss of RMB282,231,000
(2013: RMB283,035,000). It was noted by
the Committee that some of the debtors
had financial problems and the recoverability
of these receivables was low, and a report
was prepared by the Committee suggesting
a provision of RMB20,080,000 (2013:
RMB89,600,000) based on an analysis of
the recoverability by customer portfolio. The
analysis was based on the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at
individual debtors’ original effective interest
rate, together with the subsequent settlement
and aging of individual debtors.

The board of directors has reviewed the
report of the Committee and considered
the provision suggested is adequate but not
excessive and the remaining trade receivables
at 31 December 2014 of RMB160,420,000
(after impairment loss of RMB282,231,000) is
collectible.

The board of directors considered the credit
risk of the bills receivables and liquid funds is
limited because the majority of counterparties
are reputable state-owned banks located in the
PRC.

Other than the concentration of the credit risk
on trade receivables, bills receivables, bank
balances and pledged bank deposits, the
Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group closely monitors the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings, its cash position
resulting from its operations and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents to finance
the Group’s operation and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

A IS AR R
for the ar ended 3 December 2014
PALS Sl

7. EWMIEAR(E

(e)

()

1BEEE (PE) BRAA

EERE (E)

R-ZE—NWE+-—A=+—H0 "&EEE5H
JE U 5k 1B A A R 442,651,000 ( —FE—=
F : AR#460,112,0007T) * K&t MIBEEE
AR#282231,000L(—ZT—=F: AR
283,035,0007T) - ZE S EBZEEBATE
B HE RS RN FIEN AR E B - &
BE2ERENRE  BIBREFHEAE AR E E
FTYER) DA B2 1 1 B s A R 20,080,000 7T
—T—=4F : AR¥89,600,0007T) ° =T
ThERERERS A R R ERRF RITIR AR K
ReEmBRERE @ BhsrkEREE RERIE
TEARIARER ©

EEeCEHNZESRE UIRAEZRE
TEZEMARAEZ TRER-ZF—
F+-_A=+—"HWE S ERFERTBA
R #160,420,000 L ( B sH R EE B A R
282,231,0007C) BRI Uk -

HRABPRZHFARTEEARENEE
RIT - At EFERR/EREBRLRBES
MEERRER -

BREZEKFIE  BREE  RITEHREE
HIRITEFRNETEERRIN - AEEMET
MEMBEBNEERTRER -

TED LB
REBREERRE - AREZERRTR
HiptERWBRBERREREEMELNRES
MAI - SRR HIRE RIS FER B KF
NEPAEENEERBBERERENBOF
.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=2-MEt=A=t+-ALEE

7.

(M

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. SREIE(E)
Liquidity risk (continued) n "EERERSR(E)
The Group relies on bank borrowings as AEEGRIBTEEEAEIERDESKIR
a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 R-ZE—NFE+—_A=+—H  ANEBEHNEH
December 2014, the Group has short- RITHERBE AL AR 281,080,000 L (=F
term bank loan facilities of approximately —=F+=-A=+—H :451,167,0007T) ° &
RMB281,080,000 (31 December 2013: EFAHIFE 25 ©
RMB451,167,000), details of which are set out
in note 25.
The following table details the Group’s TEHERA—E—NER-_E—=F+=A
remaining contractual maturity for its financial =+—H AEESHEBBENHRTE LD HE
liabilities as at 31 December 2014 and 2013. IR o N3 IR AR SE B A] ge i BN A f&
The table has been drawn up based on the FHHARELENSRBENRURBESRER
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities o HRRARFEFEFNEREACIRSRE ©
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.
Liquidity and interest risk table wENME R F SRR
Weighted Total
average Within 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year cash flows amount
il =fiRE BREER
TR =fEAR —£ Beneg REE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BAL AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
2014 —B-IF
Trade, bils and other payables B ZE(I7E - EREE
REMENTE - 184,404 32,122 216,526 216,526
Borrowings EE 7.55 77,707 272,967 350,674 336,879
262,111 305,089 567,200 553,405
2013 —g-zF
Trade, bils and other payables  ZZEMNTUE - ENER
REMERFE - 174,154 34,865 209,019 209,019
Borrowings B 6.12 215,328 259,716 475,544 464,167
389,982 294,581 684,563 673,186
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(9)

Fair value

The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities is determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis or
using prices from observable current market
transactions.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Products within each operating segment
The segment information reported was
presented based on the types of products and
the types of customers to which the products
are sold, which is consistent with the internal
information that is regularly reviewed by the
directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision makers of the Group,
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.

The Group has three reportable operating
segments as follows:

° OEM and related market — manufacturing
and selling of axle assemblies and axle
components to heavy duty truck and
middle duty truck manufacturers and
other assembly manufacturers.

° Aftermarket — manufacturing and selling
of axle components and axle assemblies
to market for providing after-sales
services.

° Train and railway business -
manufacturing and selling of train and
railway components which commenced
sales and became a new operating
segment since 2013.

ARE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

7. E@TIAGE

(9)

AV

Hth e @AENSBMBENAFEIREARM
AR LRES T ALENARE BHARER
AR B HI BRSO ERERE -

ARREERR - REHRARGE M HHREK
AENEREERSRABNRAERL A
BRE -

8. WARZHESR

(@

RS (PE)BRAF

EEEBESBANER
FREREM D HER IAERBELBEEMN
EPELAREEZRY  RESASETEE
BARRANESTEREH AN EER KGR
HEABE LR -

REBERERF AT =ERFHRELEDE -

e OEMEMMMSE-RERRERPER
BHRER R EMAKSERSERKE
fBAaR R ERTERMT -

s HEMBE-REMKRTHHEERTE
1 RABAER AR L E 1R ARTS

o BT RGN =T — = FRIAH
£ 30 7 3T RIS 3 2 I E R BT E
P B TR S -
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for the year ended 31 December 2014
HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WARDHER ()
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment revenue and results (b) 2EMBAREE
Segment revenue Segment results
AEHBA AREE
2014 2013 2014 2013
“E-QNE e S “E-QNE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTTL ARETT ARBTTL
OEM and related market OEM kA& M5 168,713 172,769 18,785 29,726
Aftermarket #iEms 165,851 222,364 19,276 34,03
Train and railway business FIEE: 1SS 2,364 34,162 624 9,119
External revenue/segment results SN /5 S48 336,928 429795 38,685 72,880
Other (expense) income and Hio (B WAR
other gains and losses HiphERER (3,056) 2,573
Seling and distribution expenses  $HE R #HFER (20,529) (25,656)
Research and development e
expenditure (17,725) (23,988)
Administrative expenses THRA% (62,802) (68,204)
Loss on disposal of asubsidiary Wil — B R A BB (6,105) =
Impairment loss on trade BN IERE
receivables (note) B () (20,080) (89,600)
Impairment loss recognised in nE - BEREEL
respect of property, plant BRZHESE
and equipment (55,764) (62,133)
Impairment loss recognised in ERHERE
respect of prepaid lease BRHESE
payments - (30,332)
Reversal of impairment loss PEARENEEE
recognised in respect of property,  HI¥1% « BRERRELZ
plant and equipment classifiedas R FEEBAE
assets held for sale 26,712 19,602
Finance costs BEKK (29,336) (32,552)
Loss before tax BiRER (150,000) (227,410)
Taxation A 210 (645)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBREERS AR
expense for the year (149,730) (228,059)
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
Revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There was
no inter-segment sales during the year.

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment results represent the gross profit of
each operating segment. This is the measure
reported to the directors of the Company
for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

Note: The amount consisted of an impairment loss on
trade receivables for the OEM and related market
of RMB1,825,000 (2013: RMB31,112,000)
and trade receivables for aftermarket of
RMB18,255,000 (2013: RMB58,488,000).

Segment assets

OEM and related market OEM K A8 5
Aftermarket H#EH %

Train and railway business | B K% S5 B 7S
Total of all segments B D EHERT
Unallocated RO
Consolidated assets LREBE

Segment assets represent trade receivables
for OEM and related market and aftermarket,
inventories and property, plant and equipment
related to Train and railway business.

Segment liabilities are not presented as
liabilities are generally incurred for all operating
segments and not presented to the directors
for performance assessment and resource
allocation.

8.

%é%%ﬁ%%ﬁ
ar ended 31 December 2014

mE+=—A= + AIEFE

for the y

@1—7

WA RS EER ()

(b)

Bt -

(c)

7 RBULA R K48 ()
A EFTEREMMARKRRBIMNEEF KA -
FALEDFPEHE -

ENEHNE JrEﬁZ%EﬁiBﬁi‘Iﬁﬁ?;ﬁE@A‘
LBZ —H - NEFREARSLEDBNER -
%?ﬁﬁ@ﬂéﬁ&m‘%ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁﬁ$@T%%Eﬁiﬁ
HFTEIRR o

ZAE IR OEM R IG5 1) B 5 fEW B R (B 78
ARH#1,825,0007C (= F—=4 : AR#31,112,000T)
RIRHEETTEHI B ZERHTBA R 18,256,000 (= F
—=1F : AR¥584880007T) °

PHEE
Assets
BE
2014 2013
—F-mF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
84,744 83,643
75,676 93,434
254,721 247,443
415,141 424,520
861,974 1,157,061
1,277,115 1,581,581

7 EVE EE OEM RABRE T 5 e 5 - KT
LEREGHENEERDE  BELRRBENES
MR ©

HRAMELENH—RITEELAER
RRBFERERDEE2RH - WA

TEHES
SHHBALRE -

COn
;__._:._Halﬂ
BREE(RE) ERAT —E-NEEEHE 101 & m!
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e SRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-F-MET=ASt-ALFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

COmmn

Bt (em

I.....--
P —

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the
PRC (country of domicile of the operating
subsidiaries). All non-current assets of the
Group are located in the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers
are attributed to the PRC of RMB334,564,000
(2013: RMB395,633,000) and Russia of
RMB2,364,000 (2013: RMB34,162,000)
respectively.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of the total sales
of the Group are as follows:

Customer A! ZEA
Customer B! =FB!
Customer C2 =5 C2

! Revenue from OEM and related market.

2 Revenue from after market.

S The corresponding revenue did not contribute
over 10% of the total sales of the Group.

8.

WA RS EER ()

(d)

(e)

o 35 B
AEETENFHE(ZENBRRNEMER)
B8 - ARBEMAIERBEEDUNTE -

FIEASBRBIINEBZFHBRALGEBRF
Bl KRR - @85 5 A AR 334,564,000
T(ZE—=%: ARK#¥395,633,0007T) &
AR 236400 (=T —=F: ARK
34,162,000 7T) °

ERTEEFNESR
REFEMBERMBAGARERHERER10%
ZEFWT

2014 2013
= —FT-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥ETT
84,301 51,617
N/ATER? 47,460
42,583 N/ANE

1 XK E OEM R AGRI 5 89 A

2 KEHETHHIRA °

3 FEIEWA IR AE BB AR E AT 10% ©

102 Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE I HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-Z-NF+-A=1t—-HILEFE

9. Hftt(fiX) WARHE Rk EE

OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME AND OTHER
GAINS AND LOSSES

Reversal of impairment loss
on trade receivables

B 5 WG IRR E &R R O

Government grant (note) BT ERE ()

Income from suppliers on
defects claim

KB HERERERENRA

Bank interest income RITHIBMA

(Loss) gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

HEME - BB R&EN (BR) Wt

Loss on sales of scrap materials HEEEMRREE
Net foreign exchange loss b 5 E518 558
Others HAth

Note: Grants primarily represented incentives received from
local authorities by the group entities as encouragement
of its business development. These grants are
accounted for as immediate financial support with no
future related costs expected to be incurred nor related
to any assets.

2014 2013
—E—F —T—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
20,884 4,388
8,326 6,255

825 3,869

250 216
(25,599) 580
(15,144) (7,176)

4 (522)

7,406 (5,037)
(3,056) 2,573

Hist  ZE 2 REE BEH SR N B E R AR - LB
IR ETEZIR o S KU R ERIIA IS % 5% - TRE]
RIEAGTE LIS R A (AR -

RS (PE)BRAF

T MEFERE
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B IS ERRMIEE

'.\.|
o=

for the year ended 31 December 2014
%4177 WE+ZA=1+—HILFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years
Other borrowings wholly repayable
within five years

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging

(crediting):

Employee benefits expenses
(including directors):
— salaries and other benefits
— retirement benefit scheme contributions

Total staff costs (included RMB33,124,000
(2013: RMB43,712,000) in cost of sales,
RMB1,860,000 (2013: RMB2,904,000)
in selling and distribution expenses,
RMB1,978,000 (2013: RMB2,498,000)
in research and development expenditure,
and RMB19,937,000
(2013: RMB23,456,000)
in administrative expenses)

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Auditors’ remuneration
Impairment loss on advance to suppliers
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
—included in cost of sales
—included in research and
development expenditure
Allowance for inventories,
net (included in cost of sales)
Reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables

COmm

il

"_- 104

=

10. BERAE

AT HIEFE -
RAFATBHERNRITHER

RAFRBREENE

11. BREIAIE B

EERNAX (BRES)

—HE REMER
— RAERIFTEIER

@B T (AR 33,124,0007T
(ZZ—=%F : AR¥43,712,0007T)
BEEHERAR - AR 1,860,0007T
(ZF—=%F : AR¥2,904,0007T)
BREHERDHEAIAN - ARE
1,978,000t (ZE—=F : AR
2,498,000 7T) &TEEﬁH?‘EﬁfZW
RAREA19,937,000(ZE—=4 :
AR 23,456,0007T) a?ﬁﬁﬂﬂzsﬁiﬁ\?)

nx - BEIRENE
BOENRENA
W% - BERREREER

(72 Gl
AR B SR E R
BARYFERER
ERRBHAX I FERA
—BREERENAR
— BEEMERXA

FERBFE (BRHEEKL)
B ARYRRERERE
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ButATEIRE R (GHA)

2014 2013
—B-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARETT
27,543 31,675
1,793 877
29,336 32,552
2014 2013
—Z-mF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBFT
50,676 64,332
6,223 8,238
56,809 72,570
37,016 38,214
5,524 6,436
55,764 52,133
1,347 1,662
8,619 -
20,080 89,600
297,653 353,904
10,807 16,217
19,272 -
(20,884) (4,208)
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ARE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

12. TAXATION 12. B
2014 2013
—2-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T

The taxation comprises: MIAELE

Current tax expense BNHAR: T8 A = - 1,862
Under(over)provision in prior years BEFERENE (BERE) 70 (1,449)
Deferred taxation (note 18) IEAERRIA (FiFE18) (340) 232
(270) 645

The taxation for the year represents the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax which is calculated at the
prevailing tax rate of 25% on the taxable income of
the group entities in the PRC for the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to any income tax.

On 26 June 2013 and 5 September 2013, Kaifeng
Changfeng and Longyan Shengfeng Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (“Longyan Shengfeng”),
both are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company,
obtained “High and New Technology Enterprise”
status for 3 years and subject to a preferential
tax rate of 15% for the period from 2013 to 2015
according to the PRC Tax Law.

BUEE(RE)ARAT —B-NEEEHE 105 E

= —
o

FARBAXEFECRMENR  ZHEIRRE
E-T-MERZFT=FF+-A=+—HALHF
B RAENEEEEOERTKARRITHE
25%&TH -

R B 8 BB REM AL R NEBHERIFEH o

RZE—=F~NA+"BER-_ZT—Z=ZF1A%R
B ARAAMEEZENBRARMINGEMESRE
HRELERR AR ([FEake |) » RER [ =il
tEIFE - BH=-F  BEREFE - LBEAE
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e IR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=2-MEt=A=t+-ALEE

12. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 12. BiE (&

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

FAFRBEARGE B R E M2 SR SRR AT
EEEERNT ¢

2014 2013

—E-mEFE —EF—=%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBT T

Loss before tax bR A ESIE (150,000) (227,410)
Tax at the domestic income RNE TSI E 25%

tax rate of 25% AT IR (37,500) (56,853)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible N AJ F1%: 5 2 IR 7S 2 &

for tax purpose 25,856 20,950

Tax effect of deductible temporary RERA MR TR EEENTREE

difference not recognised (201) 22,393

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RHERFIBE BTS2/ 2 16,823 21,294

Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEHENTETE (5,318) (5,690)

Under(over)provision in prior years BEFERETE GBEES) 70 (1,449

(270) 645

Under the New Tax Law, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
distributable profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB115,909,000
and RMB197,917,000 for the years ended at 31
December 2014 and 2013 respectively, as the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had deductible
temporary difference of RMB282,231,000 (2013:
RMB283,035,000) attributable to the impairment
loss on trade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as, in the opinion of directors,
the utilisation of such temporary difference is remote.

BEHHE BT N\F—A—BRHEPEKN
BRI FTRE A & A S IRA R B TESNE - A
PAZN N B A4 I B O BT R = RE RS B R
EHEAES TSR LERERD Al Rise
PERRABMERBEE T NFEN_T—=F
T+ A=+t HLEFEFEBRTRNBRRRFH
53K i A o Bl 49 A R #5115,909,000 7T & A R #&
197,917,000 JCHY & B |4 2= BB (E IR IE R TB s -

R-E—NFE+—_A=+—H AEEHEREZ
5 FE WK TE R B B 18 T 2= A /9 P) O BR B R = A
B AR®E282231,000c(ZE—=F: AR
283,035,0007T) - HRNESRAFAZZTERIEE
BT AN AW EESEZSE NIRRT EERE
RYEERIB & E DWW HER o
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A TS IERRMET

for the year ended 31 December 2014
BE-Z-NF+-A=t—HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERESHFMH
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@ ESRESTBRAENHME
emoluments
The emoluments of the directors and the chief EEZNESTHABMEIREREES T ¢

executive on a name basis are as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE_Z-—-NME+-—A=+—HLEE

Other emoluments

HibEi <
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments
Fek ERER
e HiE R sHEIHX H &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR AR®TR ARBFT ARBFT

Wong Kwai Mo* F AR~ - 1,236 12 1,248
Wu Ching* HREE - 1,236 12 1,248
Lai Fengcai* FEBLF - 600 17 617
Dong Ying, Dorothy = - - - -
Zhu Weizhou KEM - 81 - 81
Li Xiuging S - - - -
Chong Ching Hei mEE - 81 - 81

- 3,234 41 3,275
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ARE BT IR R M RE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-F-MET=ASt-ALFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13.
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

EEkEEHM(F)

() EBERESTRASHNMHE ()

HE_Z—=F1+"A=+—HILFE

Other emoluments

HisBi &

Retirement

Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments

Fek RIKAEH]
ok H o4 A TR wEe
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Wong Kwai Mo* FHER - 1,245 12 1,257
Wu Ching* HREE " - 1,245 12 1,257
Lai Fengcai* FEBLF - 600 17 617
Dong Ying, Dorothy e = - - -
Zhu Weizhou REM - 81 - 81
Li Xiuging E=FHE = 81 = 81
Chong Ching Hei HeE - 81 - 81
— (5158 41 3,374

* Executive directors @ HiTEH

Lai Fengcai is also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as
the chief executive.

Except for one director, Li Xiuging, who
waived salaries and other benefits amount to
RMB81,000 in 2014, none of the directors
waived any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

COmmn
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

During the year ended 31 December 2014, of
the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2013: three) were directors
of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note (a) above.
The emoluments of the five individuals are as
follows:

ARE BTSRRI RE
13. EBRESHM (&)
(b) EEME
RBE_T-—NF+-_A=1+—RALEFE &K
SEREGEEFALY  HPp=2(ZF—=

F:ZR)BARAESE  REFMR X
EE@FEE - REBALTHBEIT

2014 2013

—E-mF —E—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETIT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMmET 3,708 4,463
Contributions to retirement RN HIGFT B TR

benefit scheme 68 69

3,776 4,532

Their emoluments were within the following
bands:

BERBEN T THE -

Number of individuals

BEAE
2014 2013
—E-NE —ET-=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T% 1,000,000 7 (FHEHL
(equivalent to approximately T3 ARKET792,2007T)
Nil to RMB792,200) 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 1,500,000 7 7T
(equivalent to approximately (BEERH AR 792,201 TE
RMB792,201 to RMB1,188,300) AR #1,188,3007T) - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7.2 2,000,000 7 7T
(equivalent to RMB1,188,301 (FBERK AR 1,188,301 7T
to RMB1,584,400) 2 AR 1,584,400 7T) 2 2

During both years, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

REZMFE  AREREANLRESFAL(E
REENEES) NS AERMAZ AR
SER ) RE) BB E
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

14.

15.

"'mm 110

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

Loss for the purpose of
basic loss per share

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Number of shares REE
Number of ordinary shares for the

purposes of basic loss per share

No diluted loss per share is presented as the
Company did not have any potential ordinary shares
in issue during both years or at the end of each
reporting period.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company

during the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2013.

BE - BREANEE

BRER

ARAFEA ANEEERERNBRIREATBET

=

ARBRE ANEIEFAEER

EEREE —BREAER

2014 2013
—E-mF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREET T
(152,449) (208,245)

2014 2013
—E-mEF —E-=F

800,000,000 800,000,000

BT 5 R 18 F [ 30 % s FAR AN A B3 B AE AR
BEDBRTEBRR  RUEZ25|SEEEES -

IRE

ARAREBE_T—"NFRER_ZT—=ZF+_A
=—t+—HIFEMELINHEREMES -

Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



COST

At 1 January 2013

Additions

Transfer

Reclassified as held for sale
(note 23)

Disposal

At 31 December 2013 and
1 January 2014

Additions

Transfer

Reclassified as held for sale
(note 23)

Disposal

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 29)

At 31 December 2014

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2013

Provided for the year

Impairment loss recognised
in profit or loss

Reversal of impairment loss
recognised in profit or loss

Reclassified as held for sale
(note 23)

Disposal

At 31 December 2013 and
1 January 2014

Provided for the year

Impairment loss recognised
profit or loss

Reversal of impairment loss
recognised in profit or loss

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A

“Z-=£-f-H

AE

&3

ENHARIELE
(P#E23)

e

iﬁ“ﬁﬁ%Wﬁ%
(M 29)
e
HE-BHBAR (HfE20)

RZZ-RE+-A=1-H
BHITERAE
—“2-=f£-f-H
ENEE
RERPRANRESSE
RNBEEA RERERE
BIAERBELE
(M 29)
e
RoZ—=5+-fA=1-H
B-F-mE-A-A
EiE
RERPRRNRERE

NESRD R ERRRE

Reclassfied as held for sale (note 23) E#ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ fELE (M 23)

Disposal
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 29)

At 31 December 2014

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013

%FWET%M@
RZE-ME+-A=+-H

RAE
RZE-ME+-A=1-H

RZE-—=F+-A=1-H

o~ AL + 23
wa E!ﬂ%ae&i’%ﬁﬁaf
for the year ended 31 December 2014
%1,7 mE+=A= + HILFE
16. M%¥ - MERRE
Furniture,
Motor fixture and Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment Machinery  in progress Total
- %B
BT RE k& e KEIR fif
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETr  ARETRE  ARETr  ARETR
347,7% 6,342 6,537 390,667 83,038 834,379
13,308 306 702 51,301 34,942 100,559
54,928 - B 52,988 (107,921) -
(15,452) - (459) (111,330) - (127,241)
(10,000) - - - - (10,000)
390,579 6,648 6,785 383,626 10,059 797,697
- - 2,649 3,287 - 5,936
- - - 1,332 (1,332) -
(127,245) - (876) (8,486) - (136,607)
- (89) - (41,313) - (41,399)
(37,582) - - (771) - (38,359)
225,752 6,562 8,558 337,675 8,727 587,274
83,804 2,444 3,512 166,443 - 256,203
10,377 956 873 26,008 - 38,214
15,709 - 290 36,134 - 52,133
(7,100) - - (12,502) - (19,602)
(7,432) - (123) (44,878) - (52,433)
(859) - - - - (859)
94,503 3,400 4,552 171,205 - 273,660
11,575 980 700 28,761 - 37,016
17,960 - - 37,804 - 55,764
(24,935) - - (1,777) - (26,712)
(81,343) - (569) (3,256) - (35,168)
- (63) - (9,862) - (9,929)
(8,746) - - (713 - (9,459)
59,014 4,317 4,683 217,162 - 285,176
166,738 2,245 3875 120,513 8,727 302,098
296,076 3,248 2,233 212,421 10,059 524,037
j;g__:_‘_‘aga .I ﬂ(:-
BEER(PE)ARAR —E—NFEFERS =151 L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2014
HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT- 16. Y% BERRE (E)

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are depreciated
on straight-line basis at the following rates after
taking into account the residual values:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
term of lease, or 4.5%

Motor vehicles 18%

Furniture, fixture and equipment ~ 18%

Machinery 9%

The Group has pledged certain buildings to secure
general banking facilities grant to the Group at the
end of the reporting period as detailed in note 25.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group entered into conditional agreements in respect
of disposal of certain land and buildings held by two
wholly owned subsidiaries, Sichuan Changfeng and
Kaifeng Changfeng. Relevant assets with carrying
amount of RMB49,572,000 (net of impairment of
RMB10,701,000) and RMB51,867,000, respectively,
had been classified as assets classified as held for
sale as at 31 December 2014. Details are set out in
note 23.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Group had entered into a conditional agreement
in respect of disposal of its entire equity interest
in a wholly owned subsidiary, Fujian Changfeng
Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd (“Fujian Changfeng”).
Relevant assets with carrying amount of
RMB33,308,000 for Fujian Changfeng had been
classified as assets classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2014 and 31 December 2013. Details are
set out in note 23.

BRI TEAINNIA LW - BE RREE B K5
RFIREER - RA T RABREERE :

EF R EEERR - 54.5%
RE 18%
RFh - HE KB 18%
He2s 9%

REREHRR  AEECHEFETET  UESE
FTAKEN—ARRITELE - FHISRMFE25 -

REZZE—NFE+A=+—HLFE  AEEHT
EMHEE2ERENBERATTE)|GL LA GYEHES
ZETEIHMREFIT LB GERHZ R —H
FrtZA=T—HEEEECREESIAARK
49,572,000 7T (F1B& AR ¥ 10,701,000 7T Z BB ) &
AR 51,867,000 TEDEARBIEHEEE - B
FEIBEEZIMTFE2S ©

HE-ZB—=F1+-"A=1+—BI-FE A&EH
HEERE2ENBARREGLEFREFGRAF
((REGY ) 22 HREFT LB IR HE - B
R EBEEZRAEARARES3,308,000T
RZZE—NFE+—A=+—HAE=ZF—=F+=A
T HEXBABELEEE - BETIBENH
FE23 e
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16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT-
(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Group had entered into sales agreement in respect of
disposal of certain machineries held by a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, Changfeng Gear Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. (“Changfeng Gear”), which were planned
for manufacture and sales of gear. Relevant assets
with carrying amount of RMB41,500,000 (net of
impairment of RMB20,975,000) for Changfeng Gear
had been classified as assets classified held for sale
as at 31 December 2013. Details are set out in note
23. The disposal of relevant machineries held for sale
was completed during the year ended 31 December
2014,

In addition, as the Group had terminated its plan
on manufacturing and sales of gear, the remaining
machineries in Changfeng Gear (excluding certain
machineries held for sale as mentioned above)
with carrying amount of RMB15,449,000 were fully
impaired as of 31 December 2013.

For certain non-core leasehold land and building
premises remained inactive as of 31 December
2013, recoverable amounts of the relevant assets
have been determined on the basis of net realisable
value less cost to sell with reference to the valuation
report issued by an independent valuer, Roma
Appraisals Limited, by reference to recent market
price of respective buildings. The independent
valuer has adopted the direct comparison approach
assuming sale of property in its existing state by
making reference to comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market. Impairment loss
of RMB5,008,000 and RMB10,701,000 on building
premises had been recognised for Changfeng Gear
and Sichuan Changfeng, and impairment loss of
RMB30,332,000 on leasehold land for Sichuan
Changfeng respectively during the year ended 31
December 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, in relation
to the fixed assets related to the Group’s current
production, the directors of the Company conducted
an impairment assessment on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
by assessing on the expected recoverable amount
based on the higher of value in use and fair value less
cost of disposal.

16.

1BEEE (PE) BRAA

e R AR
for the ar ended 3 december 20
‘ﬁzi?fm#+:!£*fE¢¢g

I - BB KRR E ()

HE-_ZT—=F+_"A=1+—HILFE  "EAHR
HEHERIEZEMBARREGZHHmGRAF
((G8E|m ) 5 THE(GTEREREREER
i) RV HE = c GEmncBEBEEZREER
A R # 41,500,000 7T ( 1 BR B E A K ¥ 20,975,000
TR -—E—=F+_"A=+—HEHEAZELE
BE - BAFBEHNME23 - HEFIELEREK
BB E—T—NE+—A=+—RHILFEEK

BEAh - AR AEEE R IERIERHEER 2513
WHEE—T—=F+"A=1+—H RiEL5EH
AT HEES (B EalUE THRHED & 288N ARE
15,449,000 7T 2 FREAEE B EUR(E ©

AR —E—=F+_A=+—HINBEENETIFZ
DEELHREFYEMS  BEEEZIKRE S
BH2ERBYEEMESRETEAER AR (K
2E@EpIEFZAETE) LA ZHERSE - A
AR ERHERAN 2 EEEF - B (HEME
MEELLEE  BEVMEUEBRIEE 28B4
BAmE AN ELROEERS - BHE-_ZT—=
F+_A=Z+—HLEFE BSE2amLNU|EE>
EFEYEE HRIER AR S5,008,0007T & A K
10,701,000 T 2 R EEE R GLE 2 HE i
R AR 30,332,000 7T 2 F{EEE -

HE-T-—MNF+_A=1+—HILFE HEEXE
BEREBEERBIETEENS ARAESFEBR
ERNEREERAFERLDERAZESENGE
Al E S EHAREYE  BERREREAMNE
EFEEITRERI

—E-NEFERE bl =)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT- 16. Y% BERRE (E)

(CONTINUED)

For the CGU engaged in manufacturing and selling of
axle assemblies and axle components (“Axle CGU”)
and the CGU engaged in manufacturing and selling
of train and railway components (“Railway CGU”),
the recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have
been determined on the basis of the value in use
calculation using a pre-tax discount rate of 12.77%
(2013: 12.10%).

The calculations for both Axle CGU and Railway
CGU use cash flow projections based on financial
forecasts approved by management of the Group
covering five years with the cash flows beyond such
period extrapolated using a steady growth rate till
the end of useful lives of the relevant assets. Key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to
the estimation of cash inflow/outflows which include
budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation
is based on the management’s expectations for the
prospective market and market development.

For Axle CGU, the value in use calculation of the
relevant assets is lower than their carrying amounts
by RMB55,764,000 as at 31 December 2014, and
hence impairment loss of RMB55,764,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2014
(2013: Nil).

MM BRERIHERAR BB RG 2B EL
BA([BEBReEESEMN) MEERIEREEYE
MERBGEREEAEM([EBRBEELSM])
e - HBEEE 2 WE & 5BIREB R AT IR X
12.77% (ZF—=4% : 12.10%) st EHEREEME
T o

ERRecELABURERRESELBEU  AHENE
DNERAEBEEEHEREAFUBRAZES
MIR - MEBE N2 RERTIEREEEREE
ERERFHERF ZREERERHER - EREE
AEZEERRERSRA ML EFER - £214F
BEHEERREMN - ZEFHEKEEEBRARD
BEMSRR A

R-ZE—NFE+—_HA=+—H REBREELS
ims  HEEENEAEEFEENERmMAEZ
AR 55,764,000 BtBE—_T—WF+_1
=+—HIEFE®RBERBEARE5S5,764,0007T
(ZF—=%F:4|) -

114 Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT-
(CONTINUED)

For Railway CGU, the value in use calculation of
the relevant assets exceeds their carrying amounts
as at 31 December 2014 and hence no further
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2014 (2013: Nil). It was noted that
the sales to the only customer in Russia have
been suspended since May 2014 and have not
recommenced as at the date of this report. The cash
flow projection prepared by the directors on which
the Group’s impairment analysis is based assumes
a significant volume of sales to this customer in the
coming twelve months and thereafter as the directors
of the Company considered the suspension in the
sales to be temporary. The directors of the Company
have been actively negotiating with the Russian
customer for resumption of the transaction and a
batch of products has been sent to Russia for quality
inspection in October 2014. The directors of the
Company expected that trading will resume in the
second quarter of 2015 as long as the clearance on
quality can be obtained. On this basis, the directors
of the Company is of the opinion that the recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment
approximates to their carrying amounts and no
impairment loss was recognised.

For the prepaid lease payments of both Axle CGU
and Railway CGU, the directors of the Company
made reference to the recent market prices of the
leasehold land located in the similar location as
the Group’s leasehold land on which the property,
plant and equipment are situated and concluded no
impairment on prepaid lease payments is required.

16.

1BEEE (PE) BRAA

ARE BTSSR ER Y EE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-T-MF+=A=+-HILFE

I - BB KRR E ()

R-E—NF+_A=+—H AEEREELSE
s HEEENFEREETEB L HERAE -
AtEE-—_E—NMFE+-_A=1+—HILEEWLEH
—SHRRMEEE (T —=F: £)  BXK AK
—— ARG RFHNHEEEA S NFRARYE
= BRARE A ARIRE - NEBRED T
NEESRIEMIBESRETBHAELE - mzEA TR
BRART—EAARERUZBRFEASHES -
AXRFEERAELEHETNBERE - AR AE
EFEGEBRETTFERMERSIEE - BR=
T—NE+AERBRENTE —HERBEEHE
Be ARAESHEHRARIBR T —AFE=_FE
WIE - ERERSE=E - AEAL XAFESER
B E BEMRBZANECHERFE R
EfE - B ERERREEE -

RERRESLEEUKERReEESNM ZAMNE
ERAME  AAREFKLSEEYE - BMELER
BRENASBEHEET ERNERMIEEE T2
MM ERG AW - RNAESREZARE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

?.%1/\ 2 ﬁ%i&%’%ﬁfﬁi

for the year ended 31 December 2014
@177 @fﬁ‘F ﬁ T—HLEFE

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

17. ANHAERE

RMB’000

AREF T

At 1 January 2013 R-—Z—=F—H—H 303,966

Additions NE 7,217
Reclassified as held for sale BHHEARELSE (FI:E23)

(note 23) (5,783)
Released to profit or loss SRS (6,436)
Impairment loss recognised B AR R AR (E 18

in profit or loss (80,332)
At 31 December 2013 and R_E—=F+=-A=

1 January 2014 M=F—MWFE—-—H—H 268,632
Additions R 1,001
Reclassified as held for sale ERHEAFELE (Fi:E23)

(note 23) (47,014)
Released to profit or loss BRI (5,524)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 29) & — KB A E (FiFE29) (8,954)
At 31 December 2014 R-ZZE—MFE+-_A=+—H 208,141

2014 2013
—E-—MmF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Analysed for reporting purpose: FLERER B MDA
Current assets MENVEE 4,378 6,241
Non-current assets FEMBNEE 203,763 262,391
208,141 268,632

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s prepaid lease
payments comprise medium-term lease leasehold
land located in the PRC.

Prepaid lease payments are released to profit or loss
over the lease terms ranging from 45 to 50 years.

The Group is in the process of obtaining the land
use right certificate of a parcel of land included in
prepaid lease payments with carrying amount of
approximately RMB90,988,000 at 31 December
2014 (2013: RMB92,966,000).

For the details of the impairment assessment of the
leasehold land refer to note 16.

R-F-—NE+-_A=+—08 AKEWENEE
FRARBEMNFENFREOEE LM -

FENFAERTIEAN T4 50E AN ER T8 -

AEBRKES B LT MERE  FAEN
HERE R-_ZE-—OF+-_A=+—BHNEKHA
BR A ARK0,988,0007t(ZFE—=F: ARK
92,966,0007T) °

BRBE T REN S 2 FIRH2HME16
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
(assets) recognised and movement thereon during
the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013:

At 1 January 2013 N_E—=F—H—H
(Credit) charge to WEZEER (FFA) 5152
profit or loss

At 31 December 2013 R =-ZT—=F+-_F=+—H
and 1 January 2014 ;E=ZFT—NE—H—H
Credit to profit or loss REERET A

At 31 December 2014 R -Z—MNF+-A=+—

The revaluation of the prepaid lease payments,
buildings, machinery, motor vehicles, furniture,
fixture and equipment and inventories arose from the
acquisition of a subsidiary, Longyan Shengfeng in
prior years.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses principally attributable to
subsidiaries in the PRC due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. The tax losses of the PRC
subsidiaries can be carried forward for five years.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had deductible
temporary difference of RMB282,231,000 (2013:
RMB283,035,000) attributable to the impairment
loss on trade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as, in the opinion of directors,
the utilisation of such temporary difference is remote.

The Group has no other significant unprovided
deferred tax for the years ended 31 December 2014
and 2018.

1BEEE (PE) BRAA

18.

A IS AR R
for the ar ended 3 December 2014
PALS Sl

R IE

NTAERRANETEREREAE (BE) RERE
BT NER_ZE—=F+-"A=+—HILFE

Revaluation
of identifiable Unrealised
assets and profit for
liabilities inventories Total
B ARG FERER
EERERE i Al &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT ARETIT
815 (852) (87)
(35) 267 232
780 (585) 195
(35) (305) (340)
745 (890) (145)

BNEERE BT # "B A KER
REARFENELREBEFRKE-—HHBA
AIEERRE -

FAEZ R BB A R e TR IR E R I BRI
EHIBREE > BRARIENAOTRIFERME - HEH
BARMREABEGEIF -

RZZB—NFE+_A=+—H X&EEHEREZS
FEW R TEREBEMEENAHREREZEAR
# 282,231,000 L(—Z— =4 : ARH¥ 283,035,000
JL) c MR ESRAFEAZS TR IEEZEEM A AL R
FHEH - B EZ SO RS = RERE
EFHIBEEE ©

REBEE2-_ZT-—NFErN—_FT—=F+-_HA=+—H8I1t
F[E  AEBRELME A RBERLERE -

—E-mEFERE 117
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-F-MET=ASt-ALFE

18.

19.

"_- 118

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The Group had unrecognised tax losses as follows:

Expiry date gLl =!

2014 —ZE-mEF
2015 —E-hfF
2016 —E—REF
2017 —E—+F
2018 —B-N\F
2019 —B-hF
INVENTORIES

Raw materials R

Work in progress & m
Finished goods Bk mm

The amount includes inventories related to Train and
railway business, being work in progress amounted
to RMB32,756,000 (2013: RMB9,199,000) and
finished goods amounted to RMB1,611,000 (2013:
RMB2,438,000). It was noted that the sales to the
only customer in Russia have been suspended since
May 2014 and have not recommenced as at the date
of this report.

Accordingly, the directors of the Company is of the
opinion that the net realisable value of inventories
approximates their carrying amounts and therefore
no impairment loss was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2014.

Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited

18. JEFERIE (F])

AEEREA R RERHAEROT -

19. 78

2014 2013
—E-mEF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
- 958

3,679 3,679
15,736 15,736
161,804 161,804
77,146 77,146
67,256 —
325,621 259,323
2014 2013
—E-mEF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
131,990 109,845
43,825 51,677
45,118 78,822
220,933 240,344

ZRABEEY| B R EKEF AN TR A ARE
32,756,000 (= — =4 : AR #09,199,0007T)
FHEKRHARE1,611,000T(ZE—=F: ARK
2,438,0007T) ° & « ME——RBEMTEFHIHE
EEZZ—WFRAFIE ' BRAHKREHHEARRK
BEHE -

At ARRERCEEFEN A SR FEERKS
ZEEERSE  MBE-_T-—NOF+-A=+—H
IR AR ERE

Annual Report 2014



20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables comprise the following:

Trade receivables =) e e
Less: impairment loss on

trade receivables

Bills receivables N EE
Other receivables H b pE I RIE
Advances to suppliers ) (L FE P EA K
Prepaid expenses B

VAT-in recoverable
Total trade and other receivables

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
with outstanding amount of RMB37,500,000 (2013:
RMB29,409,000) have been factored to certain
banks. The Group continues to present the factored
trade receivables as trade receivables until maturity.

At the end of the reporting period, bills receivables
with outstanding amount of RMB26,194,000 (2013:
RMBG65,114,000) have been endorsed to certain
creditors. The Group continues to present the
endorsed bills as bills receivables until maturity.

The Group allows credit period of 90-120 days to
its trade customers. The aging analysis of trade
receivables and bills receivables is presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

B SRR EE R

EER - A KE
B 5 MM R GIAREE

e R AR

EZRWRIA - BRRER A EYRRKIE

B 5 MEMEKRFIARIENTRIA

2014 2013
—E—F —T—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
442,651 460,112
(282,231) (283,035)
160,420 177,077
53,079 87,449
8,831 7,580
105,211 94,711
- 1,942
17,830 36,275
345,371 405,034

REEHR KREEEZRKRAREBEARY
37,500,000 (= ZE— =4 : AR#¥29,409,0007T)
BHETRITKASEER - AEEAEKRIZE F R
FIEZIREZERFIEEEZIHARILE -

R|BEMR - REERWREZE AR 26,194,000
T(ZE—=%: AR%65114,0007t) EBET4E
THER AKBEERESCEERE2I/EKRE
BEEEIHMAR/L -

AEBEREE S EFPRHEOEI120RNEEH - BS
FE s R IR Ko FE W R 1 e B e 0 AT AR IR X e o HA R A
BHEAHET -

COn
;__._:._Ha | ﬂ
BREE(TE) ERAT —E-NEEEHE 119 & mmf



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-T-ME+-A=t-HLFE

20.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The aging of trade receivables (net of impairment
loss on trade receivables) is presented based on
the invoice date, which approximated the respective
revenue recognition date as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&90H

91 to 120 days 91 & 120H
121 to 180 days 1212180 H
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H
Over 365 days 365 H A £

The aging of bills receivables is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&90H
91 to 120 days 912 120H
121 to 180 days 1212180 H

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has assessed the potential customer’s credit quality
and defined credit limit of each customer. Limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables,
the Committee that is responsible for understanding
background, financial strength, sales and
repayment ability of each debtor, regularly reviewed
recoverability of trade receivables (including regularly
communicating with individual debtor, holding
internal meeting to discuss and analyse the status of
each individual debtor, and seeking for lawyer review
on the status of debtor with financial or operational
problems). Based on the nature of customers, the
Committee classified the customers to different
portfolios for analysis.

20. EZRWHIE - BUREREREAMERKE (&)

R A (RS a KA RRE BIRE) 250E S
R IE (3N 5 R SR B 1R) SR ER S AT
T

2014 2013
—E—F —T—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
58,773 81,660
8,847 18,148
17,416 33,238
37,801 41,463
37,583 2,568
160,420 177,077
FEWNZEMERE ST ¢
2014 2013
= —F-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETIT
24,774 73,507
5,420 7,070
22,885 6,872
53,079 87,449

REZETMHEFH - AKREEFHEBEEFPHNE
BEERREFPNEREERE - THEPHORE
SEFEM—KX-

RIEEE ZRYGRRMAIKRE TR - REE€R8AT
BMEBBANSSR  WHES  HEHEENEE

TE BT & 5 e W SRR RO AT U Bl 14 (B4 E H R (8 )
BEBABR BOTAREBANREOMZEEBA
BN R REMEE B ANPBRR KL EH
a) REFFPHNME -  ZEeRFTFPABEA/TRA
BLAEDHT -
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

[t was noted by the Committee that some of the
debtors had financial problems and the recoverability
of these receivables was low, and a report was
prepared by the Committee suggesting a provision of
RMB282,231,000 (2013: RMB283,035,000) based
on an analysis of the recoverability by customer
portfolio. The analysis was based on the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at individual debtors’ original effective interest
rate, together with the subsequent settlement and
aging of individual debtors. The board of directors
has reviewed the report of the Committee and
considered the provision suggested is adequate but
not excessive.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB101,647,000 and
RMB95,417,000 at 31 December 2014 and 2013
respectively, which are past due for which the Group
has not provided for impairment loss as continuous
business relationship and subsequent settlement of
RMB13,410,000 was received from those debtors
and the remaining amounts are still considered
recoverable based on historical experience.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

91 to 120 days 912120H
121 to 180 days 1212180 H
181 to 365 days 1812365 H
Over 365 days 365 H A £

20.

RS (PE)BRAF

ARE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

EZRWRIEA - BRREREEYKE (&)

ZRESRERSEBATEN B HEEBZFTRYK
EERBEEEN  BZEGEREMRS  REZ
BEFASHAIEIMEZ AT ZRIFLBEAR
# 282,231,000 T(ZF—=4% : AR# 283,035,000
7T) ° A DHERERER AR RER M RIFTIRE
AEARRRERRERL - 5t REREE RERER
ABBRE - EFZQCEHNZESNRE  RAER
BE/FTEMAZES

AAREEESRBGEABR AN T —NFER=
T+ A=+ HAFEHEEIHOARE
101,647,000 7T &2 A R ¥ 95,417,000 JT & FE R BR 7K
ZERUIERE A AR RZEEEAGER
1B TSR K 18 AU A R85 13,410,000 7T R AR
WAL B TRENEAATRE - Bt » A&
BN AR B2 SR E R B IE R

ERHERRENE 5 RUGIARE DT -

2014 2013
—E-mEF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

8,847
17,416
37,801
37,583

18,148
33,238
41,463

2,568

101,647 95,417
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014

E=F-MEH=A=t+-BILFE

20. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Movement in the impairment loss on trade
receivables

1 January —H—H
Impairment loss recognised
on receivables

Amounts recovered during the year FRE WKEFKIE

+=A=+—~”

31 December

21. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets as at
31 December 2014 and 2013 that were transferred
to banks or suppliers by factoring or discounting
those receivables on a full recourse basis. As the
Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables
and has recognised the cash received on the transfer
as a secured borrowing (see note 25) or trade
payables respectively. These financial assets are
carried at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2014

am 122

Carrying amount of EZEERAE
transferred assets
Carrying amount of HEaEREE
associated liabilities
2

Net position FRE

20. EZRWHIE - BREREREAMERKE (&)

21.

B 5 B R R R S

JE WA 2 B ERIRE B 1R

2014 2013

—2-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARETT
283,035 197,643

20,080 89,600

(20,884) (4,208)

282,231 283,035

HRETHEE

UTHAEER _ZT—NFEFR_FT—=F1t_H
=t-ANEREE  DERAREEEREERE
KR ZFRUGRARRTHEEEHERE - HRA
SEYEEREZERKFIREAZEARR ME
H EeMBERBRRERKRNREE L
RNER R PRV IR & 2 B E R E EIRE R (LM
E25) B HEMNFIR - ZFERMEERASESE
FATSAIRIR AR B SR AR AR

R-ZE—NFE+=-A=+—H

Trade Bills
receivables receivables
factored to endorsed to

banks with suppliers with
full recourse full recourse Total
ZEE R2EER
BRE@MBITR mtERHEE
ENE S ERRIE A EE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TFR
37,500 26,194 63,694
(30,000) (26,194) (56,194)
7,500 - 7,500
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21.

22,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2013

Carrying amount of EZAEREE
transferred assets

Carrying amount of HEaEREE
associated liabilities

Net position FHEE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank and cash of the Group comprise bank balances
and cash. The deposits carry interest rate ranging
from 0.01% to 3.85% (2013: 0.01% to 3.85%).

Pledged bank deposits represent amounts deposited
with banks as security for the bank accepted bills
issued to its suppliers for the purchase of raw
materials. Pledged bank deposits carry interest
rate at 0.35% per annum for the year ended 31
December 2014.

e IR AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-—Z-—NF+=-A=+—HLFE
21, EZEEREE (&)
RZZE—=F+=-A=+—H
Trade Bills
receivables receivables
factored to endorsed to
banks with suppliers with
full recourse full recourse Total
BEHE Tﬁ%@Lﬁ%
BRMARITIR R ERE S
BHE 5 UGRIE W%W%E faEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT AREFT
29,409 65,114 94,523
(26,467) (65,114) (91,581)
2,942 - 2,942
22, BEARITER RITERERS
$%lﬁ TERERRECBFRITERREIRS - %7
PN F0.01% £3.85% WF|EFE(ZE—=F:
0.01 % % 3.85%) °
BEEBIRTEFRARREARITUMEARITEZRAE
HEBBELUBEERMENEENSEAETE - &
ET—NFE+ZA=+—HLFE BEERRT
FRIRFERE0.35% T8 ©
[ ;E a
y,.rr |
BEER(PE)ARAR —E—NFEFERS 123
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
,%*T‘/\ ﬂ"ap&%&ﬁﬁ

for the y
BE=

2alr enc

?*ELFJV HfﬂL HIEFE

Jed 31 December 2014

23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 23. DPEAFFELEEE
The major classes of assets classified as held for sale DHEEZEHEEEZ EBHERIINT ¢
are as follows:
Sichuan Kaifeng Fujian  Changfeng
Changfeng  Changfeng  Changfeng Gear Total
m)ll5e Rt el GeER st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
(8) (o) () d
As at 31 December 2014 HE-Z-NE+-A=1—H
Property, plant and equipment 91 * BE RiRfE 49,572 51,867 33,308 - 134,747
Prepaid lease payments BRMEFE 20,826 26,188 5,783 - 52,797
70,398 78,055 39,091 - 187,544
As at 31 December 2013 HE-T—=Fft-A=1—H
Property, plant and equipment ~ #% ~ BiERkRE - - 33,308 41,500 74,808
Prepaid lease payments ARNEESE - - 5,783 = 5,783
- - 39,091 41,500 80,591

The respective assets to be disposed of, which are
expected to be sold within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period, have been classified as
“assets classified as held for sale” and are presented
separately in the consolidated statements of financial
position.

(@)

On 30 July 2014, Sichuan Changfeng entered
into the a conditional agreement with Jialing
District People’s Government of Nanchong
City in respect of disposal of two parcels
of land located in Nanchong City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC and the erected factories
and other structures at an aggregate cash
consideration of RMB71,084,000. Deposit
of RMB36,000,000 has been received
and recognised in other payables as of 31
December 2014.

124

BN BERRT —BAARS IS TFTLHENEE

B2

EDRAIFHELHEEE] YNER

BHBRRERAE
3 o

A—E—UFELA=+H

- P0)|| 4G R TR T
SR ARBNI LB KRG HE - AAE#ETD
BRI EmEmAMRELIT - B EFT
PEER TR R MRS HeREBEBAAR
571,084,000 7T ° ELYZHLA % 36,000,000 7T
MiZeWHR —_E—NF+_A=+—HERAE
HAbfEFRIA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

(b)

On 4 January 2015, Kaifeng Changfeng
entered into a conditional agreement with
Kaifeng Land Resumption Centre and Kaifeng
Urban District Management Committee in
respect of disposal of a parcel of land located
in Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC
(the “Kaifeng Land”) and the erected factories
and other structures at an aggregate cash
consideration of RMB102,690,000. The first
instalment amounting to RMB73,000,000 has
been received in January 2015. The remaining
proceeds of RMB29,690,000 is expected to be
received by April 2015.

Since negotiations between Kaifeng Changfeng
and interested parties have been taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2014, the
relevant assets have been classified as assets
classified as held for sale at the end of the
reporting period.

A reversal of impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment classified as held for sale
amounting to HK$26,712,000 was recognised
in the profit or loss during the year, since its
estimated recoverable amount is higher than
the carrying amount as at the end of the
reporting period.

On 16 December 2013, the Group
entered into a conditional agreement with
an independent third party in respect of
disposal of its entire equity interest in Fujian
Changfeng at an aggregate cash consideration
of RMB56,000,000. Fujian Changfeng is
established in the PRC and is engaged in
manufacture and sale of axle and related
components, and remained inactive as
of the date of the agreement. Deposit of
RMB56,000,000 had been received as of
31 December 2014. The completion of the
disposal of Fujian Changfeng is subjected to
the granting of certain documents from relevant
government authority in Fujian province,
the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, the
disposal is expected to be completed by April
2015.

A ISR R
for the ar ended 3 december 2014
PALS Al

23. SEARFHEEE (H)

(b)

BEEE (PE) BRAA

R-TE-—HF—AMB  FAHGEEARTL
WEERHET O RRABETREEZE QYA
17 AB AL SRS B EE
HHA— A ME EATRERH) TR & E
325 - MK EBEBRTE/ AR 102,690,000
T-R-ZE-—AF - A WREHREA
F #73,000,0007C © Kl sR AT 15 K IE A R %
29,690,000 SLTRHAM Y — T — R4 /Y A UKER -

ARG EEANSERAIREE_F—N
F+-A=t—BULFECETER - HEE
ERNREPRRDBRFHELEERE -

FR - DEARIELEEEZYE  BEKAR
R E R 18R 26,712,000 B TN B & TR -
ARHEHRE G IR E S EBHREE -

RZTF—=F+"A+RH AXEERLEH
RiERBEer e MERRBYE =T LB K
e - AR ER AR 56,000,0007T ©
BEGENPEEMAL - RERERHES
BB - RipE R T EER - #HE—
E-MFEF+_A=+—HZUWEBEREARK
56,000,0007T - HEREBLEAFHERBE
BHRBEBARBRLE T XFR - TETK
EERA WERPBR T -AF M AT
B o

“T-mEFERE 125




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-T-ME+-A=t-HLFE

23.

24,

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

The net proceeds of disposal as detailed above
exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant
assets and liabilities and accordingly, no impairment
loss has been recognised in respect of (a), (b) and (c).

(d)  On 27 December 2013, the Group entered into
sales agreement to dispose certain machineries
at net consideration of RMB41,500,000. As
the net carrying amount of the relevant assets
is higher than the net proceeds of disposal,
RMB20,975,000 impairment loss has been
recognised in profit and loss for the year ended
31 December 2013. The disposal transaction
was completed during the year ended 31
December 2014.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade, bills and other payables comprise the
following:

Trade payables B S e 3RIE
Bills payables ENZEE
Advances from customers RERFHIRK

Payables for property, plant
and equipment

Deposit received for disposal
of a subsidiary

Deposit received for disposal of
assets classified as held for sale

Payroll and welfare payables FEf & AR
Warranty provision (note) RIEEAE (FIEE)
Other accruals HAbfEETFRIA
Other tax payables E bR IE
Other payables E M 3RIE

23.

24,

TRBFEHEEE (B)

EXFEt s HERBRIEFREBLAREERA
B2 IREVFE - B I HESL (a) » (b) & (c) ERIREE

18 o

d RZE—=F+ZA=Z++tH XEHIZ
HEBRLES TS REFE/SARE
41,500,000 c HEZZT—=F+=-—A=+—
BIEFE  dREEEECREEBLHEZ
PTG RIBH AR - AR ¥ 20,975,000 7T R B &
BERERER HEXINEEZ_FT—OF
TZA=t—HILFEFRK °

EZRNRIEA  ENRERAEMSKE

BHRNFE ENREREMENFKBBREAT
RIF :

W% - BB R REBENEUR
HE — B A RWEIRE

HEDERFHELEEERIUZE

2014 2013
—F-mE —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
43,875 58,880
44,044 65,115
87,919 123,995
7,500 18,772
12,755 40,752
56,000 28,000
36,000 -
15,207 7,262
1,063 1,071
14,032 14,762
7,342 5,295
8,555 8,807
158,544 119,721
246,463 243,716
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BRI
for the year ended 31 December 2014

I E=E-MFE+=A=+-HILEE

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. BESEMNRE  ENEERHEAESTRIE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Note: Movement of warranty provision is as follows: Hiat - RISEEEIZ BT -
Warranty provision
RIGRE
RMB’000
AREFT
At 1 January 2013 R—_ZE—=%—H—H 1,065
Ad(ditional provision during the year FFEINEE 8,931
Utilisation of provision )R (8,925)
At 31 December 2013 and RZZE—=F+-A=+—HEK
1 January 2014 —Z—FE—HF—H 1,071
Additional provision during the year FAFEINES 6,727
Utilisation of provision B A (6,735)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE-—WF+=-A=+—H 1,063

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the warranty provision
represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s
liability under 6-month warranty granted on products,
based on prior experience and industry practice for

REZFE—NER-—F—=F1+=H=+1+—H ' (RIEAEH
FE EHE B ¥ K 25 [ it 2 i £ (R Y N ML B AR IS TR B &
FRIRIEIZET + W IBRFHACH R B BRGERATTER

defective products.
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, LT ARSHEHFRNE D ENZIE(RBREAHE
presented based on invoice date, at the end of the 51 I BEBE AT -

reporting period:

2014 2013
—E-NF —ET—=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Within 30 days 30HA 12,141 19,888
31 to 60 days 312 60H 5,122 8,657
61 to 90 days 61 £ 90 H 3,547 8,072
91 to 180 days 912180 H 15,539 10,628
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 7,526 11,635

43,875 58,880
Trade payables and bills payables principally BoRENFERENEETERREREEERS
comprise amounts outstanding for purchase of o EEERNEEMANTFI0E180H °

goods. The credit period for purchase of goods is
between 30 to 180 days.

BREE(TE)ERAT - NEEERE 127 ﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014
HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(CONTINUED)

The aging of bills payables is as follows:

24. EZREME  BARBREMEMSKE ()

AT REMNZEOREDT -

2014 2013
—ZT-mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREBT T
Within 30 days 30BA 15,530 16,204
31 to 60 days 31260H 6,612 13,754
61 to 90 days 61290H 12,847 22,555
91 to 180 days 912180 H 9,055 12,602
44,044 65,115
25. BORROWINGS 25. &
2014 2013
—ZT-mF —ET—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREBT T
Bank borrowings RITHEK 281,080 451,167
Other borrowings HABER 55,799 13,000
336,879 464,167
Unsecured g 120,329 68,000
Secured HIEM 216,550 396,167
336,879 464,167
Carrying amount repayable: FEEEIRAE :
Within one year —FR 336,879 464,167
Less: Amount shown under B mEBETHNESE
current liabilities (336,879) (464,167)
Amount shown under FRBBEBE TSR
non-current liabilities - -
All borrowings are denominated in RMB, carry fixed FAEFTHUARESE - LEEMES B8 RINE

interest rates and are shown under current liabilities. BAREZY -
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25,

26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group’s

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE_Z-—NFE+-A=t—RLFE

borrowings are as follows:

Fixed-rate borrowings

The Group has pledged certain assets to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. The carrying

values of the assets pledged are as follows:

Buildings
Machinery

Land use rights
Trade receivables

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each

Authorised:

At 31 December 2013,
1 January 2014 and
31 December 2014

Issued & fully paid:

At 31 December 2013,
1 January 2014 and
31 December 2014

25. AR (&)
AEEEBERNERFNE (ETBEEREHFEX) 28
BT :
2014 2013
—ZT-mF =%
EEMEK 0%-10.98%  5.5%-7.872%
per annum per annum
ERI=E FRE
AEEBRREETEEAEARAER R HAET
BERER - BEENEENREENT
2014 2013
—E—-mEF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
gF 86,309 91,638
HeEs - 37,500
T bR 232,606 52,010
B 5 e GRIE 37,500 29,409
356,415 210,557
26. JRA
Number
of shares Amount
BEE &%
US$’000
FET
RS E(EO0.01 =TT E A
EE -
RZTE—=F+=-A=+—H"
E—NFE—A—B K
—mE+=—/A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
EZTRHE -
R—E—=F+_A=+—8 "
E—E—A—B K
—mME+=—f=+—8H 800,000,000 8,000

1R (PE)BRAT

T MEFERE

E

] ]
. 99

]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

26.

27.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 26.

Shown on the consolidated RERE WA TR 27
statement of financial position

SHARE-AWARD SCHEME 27.

The Company’s share award scheme (the “Scheme”)
was approved and adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 30 August 2012. The Company resolved
that a sum of HK$10,000,000 be provided to the
Scheme for the purchase of shares of US$0.01 each
in the capital of the Company. Such shares will be
awarded to the selected employees to be selected
by the board, or the Executive Committee acting on
behalf of the board, for the purpose of recognising
contributions of and giving incentive to the selected
employees in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Company.

At the date of adoption of the Scheme, the
maximum number of shares that can be purchased
approximately to 19,230,000 shares, represents
approximately 2.4% of the issued share capital of the
Company. 2,832,000 shares have been purchased
during year 2012 by the trustee through the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited under the Scheme:

Month of purchase
BEAH
November 2012 —T——F+-A1

No shares have been granted to selected employees
during the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2013.

130

A (&

2014 & 2013
—F-UFRK
=%
RMB’000
AREFIT

53,560

I 47 SR B =t &

ARERBER-_ZE——FN\A=ZTHRBZH E
R BEREMRMDREBEEI(T5TE]]) - XAFZE
SR LA 5T 21 2 4 /9 42 28 10,000,000 7 T8 B AN A &)
fE AR B I E A0.01 E TR (D ° 2SR MH SRR
RECESEIRRESSNRTZESTENA
EES  URGEMEEREHBERBEBZEAR
BEAADNINFESERFREEMRTER -

RIERNZTENBEE - IBENREROBE LA
19,230,000 i% * #MEAR A RIEBEITRAM 2.4% © 1
TE——F - X AEREBZTEEAEBHER
SFER AR E 2,832,000 A&7 ¢

Number of Average
ordinary shares price Aggregate
of US$0.01 each per share consideration paid
ZR0.01 EH BRITS 2t
EERNROEE % RELR
HKS RMB'000
BT ARBETFT
2,832,000 0.71 1,627

RBE_FT-MFR-_FT—=F+_A=+—HIt
FIE - TR R LR -
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28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 December 2013, the Group had entered into
an equity transfer agreement with Lonking (Jiangxi)
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Lonking Machinery”) to acquire
an additional 40% interest in the Group’s subsidiary,
Changfeng Gear at a cash consideration of
RMB30,000,000. Changfeng Gear is established in
the PRC and is engaged in manufacture and sale of
gear. A loss of RMB8,525,000 had been recognised
in special reserves, which represents the difference
between the consideration paid of RMB30,000,000
and the carrying amount of the 40% non-controlling
interests being acquired of.

The transaction has completed on 26 January
2014 and Changfeng Gear became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 June 2014, the Group entered into a
conditional agreement with an independent third
party in respect of disposal of its entire 100% equity
interest in Changfeng Gear at an aggregate cash
consideration of RMB35,000,000. Changfeng Gear
is remained inactive as of the date of the agreement.
The disposal was completed on 31 October 2014,
on which date control of Changfeng Gear passed to
the purchaser.

The assets and liabilities attributable to the subsidiary
on the date of disposal are as follows:

28.

29.

1R (PE)BRAT

iRE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-_Z-—NFE+-A=t—RLFE

W hE — R B 2 B 2 SMER

R-E-—=F+t-_A-t+tR AEEEEI(CT
) EMARDR(BEIHM )T REEZER
& A 2 R E AR 30,000,000 7 $ B R A LD
AIME ARG SR I BIN0%ELD - HEEER
REAEBRY RERHEREESEH BHEARE
8,625,000 L2 M4 Rl T HER - HEMNREAR
& 30,000,000 7T E& Fi 45 i 40% FF 12 % 12 2 BR T (8
ZER

RGP ERTE—MNF-—AZ+ BTk BBEEE
WEEKRAEEEENBAT o

HE—EHEAR

RZF-—NFEANA-TER AEE-FBIE=
HRINAE G hE - AR BRRAESRERBAR
# 35,000,000 TT i E 085 8 I 1) 2 HRAE - 52
ERENHEAMEEXS - hEERN_FT—OF+
A=+t—R%K  R’&B GeEh I EHRER

ZMBARRNHERREEEERABIT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-T-ME+-A=t-HLFE

29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 29. HE—EHBLTE (&)
The nets assets of the subsidiary on the date of WBARRNHERRZEEFENT ¢

disposal were as follows:

RMB’000
AREBT T
Consideration received: BHARE -
Cash received B W3R % 35,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities KEEGE 2 BERBEST -
over which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment Y3 - = Rk 28,894
Prepaid lease payments TEN A EFIE 8,954
Other receivables H b pE I RIE 3,257
Net assets disposed of BHEBEFE 41,105
Loss on disposal of subsidiary: HEMB AR ZEIE
Consideration received BRE 35,000
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE (41,105)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary HEMB AR 2 EE (6,105)
30. OPERATING LEASE 30. KR&EHE
Minimum lease payments paid under operating BRERAEMENKLLEHEEMNNRERESZR
leases in respect of office premises amounted to HE T NFER-_ZF—=F+-_A=+—HItF
RMB138,000 and RMB1,235,000 for the years fE 5 Rl A AR 138,000 7T & A R #& 1,235,000 7T °
ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 respectively.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REEER - AEERBETAIBHESEHERNRRK
commitments for future lease payments under AEMZERENDHBEROT ¢
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:
2014 2013
—E—MF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBT T
Within one year —FA 107 124
In the second to fifth years inclusive ~ £ _FZFAF (BIEHEMF) - 88
Operating lease payments represent rental payable KEHENTEAERRE THAEMERERY
by the Group for certain office premises and XEMNNES HER —FEMFHER RABE
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for a L R=HE o

term of 1 to 2 years with fixed rate.
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE_Z-—NFE+-A=t—RLFE

OTHER COMMITMENTS 31. HfpHRiE
2014 2013
—E—MF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Capital expenditure in respect of ISR S R B2 E AR
acquisition of plant and machinery
— contracted for but not provided —BEIHERR
in the consolidated financial RE TSR
statements (note 1) (FF&E1) 106 2,010
Capital expenditure in respect of m—EMB AR
capital contribution to a subsidiary FEME AR
— contracted for but not provided —ERTOERNGRE BT
in the consolidated financial B (fEE2)
statements (note 2) - 48,000
Notes: Hst

1.

The capital expenditure in both years 2014 and 2013
is related to the construction of production facilities to
facilitate the Group’s operation.

The capital expenditure in year 2013 was related to the
capital contribution to a subsidiary, Changfeng Gear. No
such capital commitment was noted as at 31 December
2014 as the subsidiary was disposed of during the year,
details of which are set out in note 29.

1. ROZBFER-F—=FR)E X 1 EE A R
WA IR AL B & ERIRE R

2. RoFZFHNEERXH B RG SRR T
BB R -F—MF+ A=+ —HILEZEF#
1 BB RAIERFALE - FRFEBRHE29 o

| el um.&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE-T-ME+-A=t-HLFE

32.

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members

of key management during the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

ySEGLER
BINER

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

32.

33.

BRKERGE

AREAFEAARNEERARTRIIEAES
Bl mE BN AERAKEAE SR - WAl
NEHIOESHE « AEBIEITBH LHAE% [

AHEIHER - EEB KB

AEENEE RATEBRFEENBERERRAE
HMEFBIWMKE - ARAIMBARAR T ERANE
TEOLFERBNEFEEHFAREENES - K
SEFLR KRN B - BT AELFEE D

FRERFK

BESRE
FEEEASHMN

REEZZT—NEER-_T—=F+=-_A=+—H1
FE O OEENHMTEEEAESNHHNOT ¢

2014 2013
—2-mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

3,934 3,981

68 96

4,002 4,077
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34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A RR M

for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Company has the following indirectly held,

unless otherwise stated, subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary

(i} Pt

FeRRERARAT
Chang Feng Holding (Hong Kong)
Limited

RRGEERHERRAR (H1)
Fujian Changfeng Axle
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (note 1)

REGLRRIERRAR (1)
Fujian Changfeng Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (note 1)

EERERRAERRAT
Longyan Shengfeng Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Lid.

AAEEERARAT
Kaffeng Changfeng Axle Co., Lid.

R e RREAR A
Kaifeng Changfeng Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

FRGE BRI
Beiing Changfeng Axle Research
Institution Co., Lid.

B GEERERAT
Sichuan Changfeng Axle Co., Ltd.

REGLERERAA (HT2)
Changfeng Gear Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. (note 2)

*

incorporated in 2013.

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
R/
HAER A

Hong Kong

14 February 2008
B
ZZZN\FZRTIA

PRC

5 March 2001

e
“EE-E=fA1A

PRC

8 July 2013°

Gldi
ZE-=ELANRY

PRC

29 March 2006

e
“E5EZR-NH

PRC

19 April 2006

hE
ZEENERATAA

PRC

9 August 2012

hE
“E-—#)\f/H

PRC
6.duly 2010

e
“5-TELAA

PRC

16 July 2009

Gl
ZEENELATAR

PRC

21 July 2011

GG
2

34. MIRARFHE
~AE]:
Issued and Effective equity interest
fully paid share/ attributable to the Group
registered capital as at 31 December
ERTRAZRE/ RTZB=t-B45H
A EUEERRAER
Directly Indirectly
Ef B
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE-jE Z%-ZF C-F-mE - =F
HK$10,000 100% 100% - =
100007
RMB26,000,000 - - 100% 100%
AR 26,000,00070
RMB787,000,000 - - 100% 100%
AR 787,000,007
RMB356,000,000 - - 100% 100%
ABRH 356,00000070
RMB375,000,000 - - 100% 100%
AFRH375,00000070
RMB50,000,000 - = 100% 100%
AR50,00000070
RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%
ARE1,000,0007T
RMB160,000,000 - - 100% 100%
ARH 16000000070
RMB60,000,000 - - - 60%
ABH60,000,0007
* R-E— =Ml
BEEE(PE)ERAR T NEFERS

ARRBEATRERSE (RBEHEBERIN) HHE

Principal activities

IERE

Investment holding
REAR

Manufacture and sale of axle
and related components
HERHEBR BT

Manufacture and sale of axle
and related components

RERFERRRABTIN

Manufacture and sale of
roughcast
HEREEER

Manufacture and sale of axle

RERHEER

Manufacture and sale of train
bolster, train side frame and
related train components

FERHESBEMRSE
BN RiEEs B 5

Research and development of
axle and related components

FEEERERTIN

Manufacture and sale of axle

REDHESR

Manufacture and sale of gear
RERHEES



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

E=F-ME+=A=t—ALEE

34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. Pursuant to the approval granted by local government, a
new entity, Fujian Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. had been split out from the original entity,
Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd, on 8 July
2013, with a registered capital of RMB787,000,000.

2. Changfeng Gear Manufacturing Co., Ltd. ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company upon the disposal of its 100%
equity interest during the year ended 31 December
2014, details of which are set out in note 29.

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1) As detailed in note 23(b), Kaifeng Changfeng
entered into a conditional agreement with
Kaifeng Land Resumption Centre and Kaifeng
Urban District Management Committee to
dispose of Kaifeng Land and the erected
factories and other structures at an aggregate
consideration of RMB102,690,000. Out of the
total consideration, RMB73,000,000 has been
received subsequently in January 2015.

(2) On 26 September 2014, the Company and
Century East Network Limited (“Century
East”) entered into a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue
and Century East agreed to subscribe for
610,606,060 ordinary shares (the “Subscription
Share”) of the Company at a subscription price
of HK$0.33 per ordinary share (the “Share”).
The Subscription Share shall be allotted and
issued to the shareholders of Century East (the
“Subscription Transaction”).

34.

35.

B

Bt -

wmE

(1)

NEHE ()

RIEH BTN R FE—=F+H)\H » FEEE
SR LR WIEERAG]  BEREEEEGLEE
BUEBR A GIZ IR - iR BA R 787,000,000
i o

BEGEERERAAREE —F—F+ - A=+—
At ER 2 ERERE T BRARANELE] - HREF1E
BRHEE29

H&ER

ANHIE 28(o) Al « FET 5 L ER R E T - i
BEGRLEASTREEEZ B S5 L8 IGKMH
e - R ELRRE AR 102,690,000 H &
FE L - TREREMESE - AR ERSES -
AR# 73,000,000 TEFEER=ZT—HF—H
UGER o

R-Z—MFENA=+75N8 » &2 7E Century
East Network Limited ([ Century Eastl) 513278
B Bt ARAEBKGERERE K&
77X Century EastREiz &I Z @ ([ ])
REE(E 0.33 78 78 B 610,606,060 A% A8 A 7] &
AR ([RERD]) - RERMDEREERBEITT
Century East i3 ([ RER S ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

@

(continued)

On the same date, the Company and Century
East further entered into an acquisition
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”),
pursuant to which Century East conditionally
agreed to sell and the Company conditionally
agreed to purchase the 51% issued share
capital of Century Network Holding Limited,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Century
East which engaged in electronic commence
business through cross-border business-
business electronic distribution platform, at a
consideration of US$5,200,000 (equivalents
to RMB32,400,000) to be settled by the
allotment and issue of the 122,121,212 new
Shares to the shareholders of Century East (the
“Acquisition Transaction”).

The approval from the shareholders on the
Subscription Transaction and Acquisition
Transaction were granted on the extraordinary
general meeting held on 10 March 2015,
details of which were stated in the Company’s
circular and announcement dated on
17 February 2015 and 10 March 2015,
respectively.

iRE SRR MIEE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

HE=F-ME+=A=t+-BLFE

35. HEHREE(A)

@

1R (PE)BRAT

(%)

BH - "2 F) N Century EastiE—#5] 3 UWikE
fras (TUREE R |) » Utk » Century East&{E
HREEHE RARQ R A GGREEE Century
East((BiBEHRB2BE TN TFARERES
¥R ) IE2EH B AR Century Network
Holding Limited®51% 2 TR A& - K (&
5,200,000 Jt( 48 & » A K 32,400,000
JC ) #5345 i@ [A] Century Eastf% 5 A 2% & 3% 17
122,121 212 IR 455 ([WHER S 1) -

BREER-ZE—AF=A+HRTHRELESH
A EHERER I RBER S  BEFEH
KRB A—ZE—RAF_A+tHEZZE
—hAF=RTRZBERAM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2014
HE_Z-NMF+-A=t—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY 36. ANATEBHEE
RESULTS E
2014 2013
—ZT-mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Administrative expenses TR > (7,017) (7,717)
Loss for the year FANEE (7,017) (7,717)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
2014 2013
—ZT-mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—TEMBARRNEE 863,894 863,894
CURRENT ASSET REEE
Bank balances R1TAE R 623 643
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Other payables E M 3kIE 13,188 10,396
Amounts due to subsidiaries ENLRIEVNGIE e 30,632 26,427
43,820 36,823
Net current liabilities ME B BT (43,197) (36,180)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRESAE 820,697 827,714
OWNERS’ EQUITY e AEDS
Share capital &N 53,560 53,560
Reserves (Eele=] 767,137 774,154
820,697 827,714

138 Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited Annual Report 2014



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

BE_Z-—NFE+-A=t—RLFE

37. RESERVES 37. f#fE

Shares
held under
awarded
shares
Share Capital compensation Accumulated
premium reserve scheme losses Total
RERE
O HE |
RDEE BAfRE  HEORG 2EER Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR

(Note)
(PzE)
At 1 January 2013 R-E—=%—F—H 599,296 226,982 (1,627) (42,780) 781,871
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZERZEE
expense for the year - - - (7,717) (7,717)
At 31 December 2013 and WZZ—=%+=F
1 January 2014 =+—HRk
“Z-mF—-F—H 599,296 226,982 (1,627) (50,497 774,154
Loss and total comprehensive ERBEREE
expense for the year x5 - - - 7,017) (7,017)
At 31 December 2014 RZT—ImF
+-A=+—-H 599,296 226,982 (1,627) (57,514) 767,137
Note: The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer Wit - ZAAr i ER =BT ER - EE S FE 5 FTHABmET
and deemed contribution arising from the group B EAE AR ED R ~ BBER B (EHSL -
reorganisation for listing purposes which took place in
2008 and 2009.
[ —
=
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5-Year Financial Summary

FEHERHE
Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=1t—HLEE
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—T-FF —F—F —FT--F —T-=Ff —FT-@OmF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETIT ARETRE ARETT ARETT AR¥TR
RESULTS ES
Revenue A 1,318,709 920,681 503,841 429,795 336,928
Profit (loss) before tax FRA% A& A
(E18) 335,565 81,421 (459,635) (227,410) (150,000)
Income tax (expense) credit  FT{SH: (B ) R (49,890) (21,775) (1,103) (645) 270
Profit (loss) for the year FRmA (EE) 285,675 59,646 (460,738) (228,055) (149,730)
At 31 December
R+=—H=+—H
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—T-ETF —FT——F —FT——F —T—=F —E-NOF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETITT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT AR®TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SEREE
Total assets BEMAE 2,079,087  2.305,591 1,764,871 1,581,581 1,277,115
Total liabilities BfERE (616,227) (743,011) (664,656) (709,421) (584,685)
Net assets BEFE 1,462,860 1,562,580 1,100,215 872,160 692,430

This report is published in both English and Chinese RIRE A H X IEGE 5 IR - TETEX FER a8 7 IE

languages. Should there be any inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

140
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